University of New Mexico UNM Digital Repository

**Psychology ETDs** 

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

Fall 12-15-2022

# Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychopathy in Incarcerated Men and Women

Tessa Cappelle University of New Mexico

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/psy\_etds

Part of the Psychology Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Cappelle, Tessa. "Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychopathy in Incarcerated Men and Women." (2022). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/psy\_etds/370

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Psychology ETDs by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

Tessa Cappelle

Candidate

Psychology

Department

This dissertation is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication:

Approved by the Dissertation Committee:

Marco Del Giudice Chairperson

Kent A. Kiehl

Steven W. Gangestad

Davin K. Quinn

# TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY AND PSYCHOPATHY IN INCARCERATED MEN AND WOMEN

by

## **TESSA CAPPELLE**

M.Sc., Biology, Bielefeld University, Germany, 2012 B.Sc., Developmental, Neural, and Behavioral Biology, University of Göttingen, Germany, 2009

# DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

# Psychology

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

# December, 2022

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My heartfelt gratitude goes to my advisor and mentor Marco Del Giudice – I sincerely appreciate that you have prioritized promoting my success as an individual, an academic, and an independent researcher. Thank you for your kindness, your patience, and your belief in me. I am honored I had the chance to learn from such a brilliant scholar.

Thanks are due to my secondary advisor Kent A. Kiehl. Thank you for working with me in an efficient and respectful way. Thanks to Davin Quinn for serving on my dissertation committee and for valuable insights into the medical aspect of this project.

Steven Gangestad deserves special thanks – you are the reason why I initially had the opportunity to further my academic career in Evolutionary Psychology and I am extremely grateful for you warmly welcoming me in Albuquerque and at UNM.

Geoffrey Miller – you have taught me valuable lessons on how to navigate the academic world and being treated as an equal in it. Thank you for the respect, trust, and belief you expressed towards me.

I further want to express my genuine gratitude to Craig S. Neumann – it has been a pleasure to collaborate with you and learn from you. Your dedication to support students' success and assist in any step along the way is impressive – thank you. Gerard Clarke, thank you for your valuable help during these last two years – and your friendship.

Rikk Murphy, thank you for your enthusiasm and your continued time and energy making people's life in the department easier and more enjoyable, it means a lot.

Romina Angeleri, I want to thank you for your caring spirit and for making me feel at home in Albuquerque.

I will always be grateful for having met so many inspiring people throughout my time in the land of enchantment. I want to wholeheartedly thank my friends without whom I would not be the person I am today; Seth Merkley, Anette Mertens, Ben Winchester, Richard Rael, Michaella Bennett, Jacob Spinks, Warner Wolf, Andrew Segura, Kevin Macken, Aaron McCrea, Kim Hartman, Taylor Banks, Swenja Rosenwinkel, Uwe Mayer, Nina Speer-Keary, Jennifer Kurth, Vlada Pototskaia, and Zak de Gorgue.

Lastly, but above all: My deepest gratitude is due to my family for their everlasting support and love; mum, dad, Alain, Sabine, Julia, and Sophie.

# TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY AND PSYCHOPATHY IN INCARCERATED MEN AND WOMEN

by

#### **TESSA CAPPELLE**

B.Sc., Developmental, Neural, and Behavioral Biology, University of Göttingen, Germany, 2009

M.Sc., Biology, Bielefeld University, Germany, 2012 Ph.D., Psychology, University of New Mexico, 2022

## ABSTRACT

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is one of the most suffered injuries with detrimental effects on the individual's health, personality, and behavior. Overlap exists between TBI sequelae and symptoms of psychopathy. Both conditions are especially prevalent in incarcerated populations which makes studying their interrelation critical. Two studies examined the relationship between history of TBI (TBI+ vs. TBI-) and psychopathy (via the Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised; PCL-R) in adult incarcerated men and women at correctional facilities in New Mexico and Wisconsin. Study 1 included 342 women, study 2 included 1049 men. Measurement invariance was evident for TBI+ and TBI- for both studies. TBI+ showed higher PCL-R scores for both men and women alike, indicating higher psychopathic traits compared to those without a history of TBI. These studies are the first ones to link TBI and psychopathy in adult individuals. Implications for prevention and treatment are discussed, and directions for future research are suggested.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
Chapter 1 General Introduction	1
Chapter 2 - Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychopathy in Justice-Involved Women	11
Abstract	14
Introduction	15
Methods	23
Procedure	23
Participants	23
Statistical Analyses	24
Results	30
Descriptive Results	30
Multiple Group Confirmatory Factor Analyses	30
Structural Equation Modeling	31
	32
Limitations	34
A cknowledgments	35
Pafaranaas	30
Supplementary Materials	57
	54
Chapter 3 - Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychopathy in Incarcerated Adult Males	61
Abstract	63
Methods	64
Participants	
Assessments	69
Statistical Analyses	70
Results	72
Discussion.	74
Acknowledgments	77
References	78
Chapter 4 - General Discussion	95
References General Introduction and General Discussion	106

# LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter	2
---------	---

Figure 1. Multiple Group Confirmatory Factor Analysis (MG-CFA) Results for	
Incarcerated Women Without versus With TBI	. 52
Figure 2. Structural Equation Modeling Results	. 53

# Chapter 3

Figure 1. New Mexico - Multiple Group Confirmatory Factor Analysis Results	. 93
Figure 2. Wisconsin - Multiple Group Confirmatory Factor Analysis Results	94

# LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 1	
Table 1. Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R)	. 6
Chapter 3	
Table 1. Descriptive Statistics for Demographic Variables of Adult Incarcerated Males 9	0
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of Continuous Demographic Variables Age and IQ	€
Table 3. Descriptive Statistics for the New Mexico Sample	€
Table 4. Descriptive Statistics for the Wisconsin Sample	<del>)</del> 2

# CHAPTER 1

General Introduction

#### **Traumatic Brain Injury**

The term traumatic brain injury (TBI) is defined as "an alteration in brain function, or other evidence of brain pathology, caused by an external force" (Menon et al., 2010). With an estimated 2.8 million people annually sustaining a TBI (Taylor et al., 2017) and associated medical costs of \$76.5 billion in the United States alone (Finkelstein et al., 2006) and over \$400 billion globally (Maas et al., 2017), TBI has become a major global public health challenge (Coronado et al., 2012; Faul et al., 2010). TBI is one of the leading causes of death in children and adolescents in the United States (Thurman et al., 1999) with 50,000 people in the United States dying from TBIs annually, 1.1 million people receiving treatment in emergency departments and 235,000 Americans being hospitalized as a result of TBI (Corrigan et al., 2010). TBIs have detrimental effects on people's cognition, behavior, and personality (Langlois et al., 2006; Maas et al., 2008; Sloan et al., 2007). Due to the large number of people affected by TBIs and not only its short- but also long-term effects, TBI has been referred to as the silent epidemic (Coburn, 1992). In 2006, 1.7% of the United States population lived with a disability that was a result of a TBI (Langlois et al., 2006). TBI is a growing problem with adverse effects on the injured as well as on society.

Clinical research studies have reported changes in individuals' personalities after experiencing a TBI (Barrash et al., 2000; Max et al., 2001; Norup & Mortensen, 2015). For instance, in a study of TBI patients and their significant others, 59.1% rated their partner as having changed personality one year post-injury, with the most notable changes reported for neuroticism, extraversion, and conscientiousness (Norup & Mortensen, 2015). Another study noted personality change in 59% of those with severe

TBI and 5% in those with mild or moderate TBI in children and adolescents between the ages of 5 and 14. In those affected, emotional lability, aggression, and disinhibition were the most commonly reported personality trait changes (Max et al., 2001).

The terms TBI, head injury, brain injury, and concussion are sometimes used loosely or interchangeably, and despite the vast clinical research on TBI, there is still substantial ambiguity and discussion surrounding the definition, terminology, and diagnosis of TBI and TBI severity (Sussman et al, 2018).

The prevalence of TBI is particularly high in incarcerated individuals (Hughes et al., 2015) with rates of 46% percent compared to 8.5% in the general population (Durand et al., 2017; Silver et al., 2001), where men are about twice as likely to report a TBI compared to women (Vaughn et al., 2014).

Individuals with a history of TBI exhibit more impulsive, aggressive, and violent behavior, more violent- and non-violent criminal behavior, less self-control, less emotional empathy, and criminal offenders reoffend sooner after release (Fazel et al., 2011; Ray & Richardson, 2017; Schwartz et al., 2017; Vaughn et al., 2014; Williams et al., 2015; Wood & Williams, 2008). Furthermore, people with a history of TBI show comorbidities with mental health disorders such as major depressive disorder (MDD), post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and substance use disorder (SUD) compared to individuals without history of TBI, both in the general population and in prison populations (Schneider et al., 2021; Vaughn et al., 2019).

## Psychopathy

Psychopathy is a personality disorder that is characterized by interpersonal, affective and socially deviant traits (Cleckley, 1941; Hare 2003). People with psychopathic traits

exhibit antisocial behavior, a lack of remorse and guilt, impulsiveness, and engage in many short-term marital relationships. Research around this disorder has gained attention over the last few decades and numerous studies show that the development of psychopathy is the result of a complex interplay of genetic, environmental, and social factors (De Brito et al., 2021; Del Giudice, 2018; Walsh & Wu, 2008).

About 1% of the general population of male adults over 18 years of age score above the threshold of psychopathy as determined by the PCL-R whereas an estimated 15-25% of male incarcerated adults show psychopathic traits (Coid et al., 2009; Kiehl & Hoffmann, 2011). This disproportionately high occurrence in prison populations demonstrates a pressing need to study psychopathy in inmates (Hare, 2003).

Within the criminal justice system, prison sentences, the evaluation of treatment options, and potential risk of recidivism are affected by the concept of psychopathy (Anderson & Kiehl, 2014; Beggs & Grace, 2008; Kiehl & Hoffmann, 2011).

#### Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R)

The standard assessment tool to measure psychopathy in prison populations is the Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R, Hare, 1991; Hare, 2003). It was originally designed to assess psychopathic traits in adults who were convicted of a crime and was later also validated for non-forensic populations. PCL-R assessment is conducted by trained researchers and mental health professionals through interviews and consideration of available individual medical records. The individual's psychopathic traits are measured through this 20-item instrument using a 3-point rating scale, corresponding to the degree that the trait exists in the individual (0 = nonexistent, 1= partly existent, 2 =

fully existent). The PCL-R has a maximum score of 40 with a threshold for the definition of psychopathy of 30 for men and a typical cutoff for women of 25 (Jackson et al., 2002). The PCL-R has been validated extensively and is used in different populations comparing men and women, in alcohol inpatients, in adolescents, and in clinical settings (Forth et al., 1996; Toupin et al., 1995; Vitale & Newman, 2001; Windle & Dumenci, 1999).

Factor analyses of PCL-R scores have revealed a classification into two main factors, namely interpersonal/affective (Factor 1) and impulsive/antisocial behavior (Factor 2), with an inter-factor correlation of 0.56 in incarcerated individuals (Hare et al., 1991). Factor 1 represents the manipulative, callous side of the psychopath including exploitative use of others, lack of guilt, remorse, and empathy and Factor 2 refers to unstable lifestyle and antisocial behavioral traits (Hare, 1991; Hare et al., 1990; Harpur et al., 1989).

The two factors were later divided further into four distinct facets (Hare, 2003; Hare & Neumann, 2005; Vitacco et al., 2005; see Table 1). Factor 1 (interpersonal/affective) is split into facet 1 (interpersonal) with the items glibness and/or superficial charm, grandiose sense of self-worth, pathological lying, and conning and/or manipulative behavior, and facet 2 (affective) with lack of remorse or guilt, shallow affect, callousness and/or lack of empathy, and failure to accept responsibility for one's own actions. Factor 2 (lifestyle/antisocial) is divided into facet 3 (lifestyle) comprising need for stimulation and/or proneness to boredom, parasitic lifestyle, lack of realistic, long-term goals, impulsivity, and irresponsibility, and facet 4 (antisocial) which lists poor behavioral controls, early behavioral problems, juvenile delinquency, revocation of conditional release, and criminal versatility. Two out of the twenty total items of the

PCL-R did not saturate any of the factors, namely promiscuous sexual behavior and having had many short-term marital relationships (Hare, 2003; Hare & Neumann, 2005).

 Table 1: Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R); Items classified by Factors and Facets

 (After Hare, 2003; Hare & Neumann, 2005)

#### Factor 1 (Interpersonal/Affective)

Facet 1 – Interpersonal	Facet 2 – Affective
1. Glibness / superficial charm	6. Lack of remorse or guilt
2. Grandiose sense of self-worth	7. Shallow affect
4. Pathological lying	8. Callous / lack of empathy
5. Conning / manipulative	16. Failure to accept responsibility

#### Factor 2 (Lifestyle/Antisocial)

Facet 3 – Lifestyle	<u>Facet 4 – Antisocial</u>
3. Need for stimulation	10. Poor behavioral controls
9. Parasitic lifestyle	12. Early behavioral problems
13. Lack of realistic, long-term goals	18. Juvenile delinquency
14. Impulsivity	19. Revocation of conditional release
15. Irresponsibility	20. Criminal versatility

Note. The original items promiscuous sexual behavior (11) and many short-term marital relationships (17) did not load onto any factor.

As the PCL-R was originally designed to study psychopathy in forensic populations, and men are currently and historically incarcerated at much higher rates

compared to women (93.1% vs. 6.9%, Bureau of Prisons Statistics, 2022), psychopathy research has primarily focused on men in the past (Carson & Golinelli, 2013). Only recently have researchers started to study psychopathy in women-only samples in more detail (Wynn et al., 2012).

On average, PCL-R scores are slightly lower in women compared to men, hence the cutoff for determination of psychopathy in women is set to 25 points and 30 points for men (Verona & Vitale, 2006). The PCL-R shows good validity and reliability for the study of female samples (Vitale & Newman, 2001).

The only studies conducted so far on the relationship between psychopathy and TBI were in juvenile incarcerated individuals, revealing higher PCL-R total scores for those who have had a TBI compared to those who did not (Vaughn et al., 2014). With brain development ongoing during childhood and early adolescence, blunt trauma to the head has clear potential to permanently affect neurocognitive function, and indeed there is some empirical evidence for this (Beauchamp et al., 2011; Max et al., 2015).

To this day, no study has examined whether and how a history of TBI affects psychopathy in adult incarcerated individuals, and specifically how PCL-R total scores and PCL-R factor and facet structures differ between groups of individuals with and without a history of TBI. In the past, individuals with a history of TBI have been excluded from data analyses due to the lack of understanding of whether and how TBIs might affect psychopathy (Anderson et al., 2021; Cima & Raine, 2009; Steele et al., 2017). However, inmates with a history of TBI represent a non-negligible part of the inmate population. Colantonio and colleagues report that 50.4% of male inmates and 38.1% of female inmates indicate having had a TBI (Colantonio et al., 2014) compared to

an estimated 12% in the general population (Frost et al., 2013). Therefore, it is necessary and important to study psychopathy in relation to TBI in forensic populations.

#### **Psychopathy and TBI**

Some TBI sequelae are similar to the symptomatology of psychopathy. These include traits related to emotion processing and cognition – traits that are mostly represented in the interpersonal-affective traits of Factor 1 of psychopathy.

Individuals with psychopathic traits show low emotional affect, which is shared by some individuals who have had a TBI in the past (Fournier & Verona, 2022). Emotional empathy, emotion recognition, working memory, and reasoning may be impacted in patients following a TBI (De Sousa et al., 2012; Ietswaart et al., 2008; Rosenberg et al., 2014), and they are also present in individuals high on psychopathy (Dawel et al., 2012; Domes et al., 2013). Functional MRI (fMRI) studies indicate differences in blood flow representative of neural activation of certain brain regions that are correlated with both TBI and psychopathy (Jolly et al., 2020). In particular, the prefrontal cortex, amygdala, and paralimbic structures have been well established as some of the brain regions that are linked to psychopathy (Keil & Kaszniak, 2002; for review, see Anderson & Kiehl, 2014) and post-TBI behavioral and personality changes. These brain structures are, amongst others, involved in emotion regulation, facial emotion recognition, self-reflection, and executive functions such as decision-making processes, all of which are relevant in psychopathic behavior.

Further, there is empirical evidence that TBI results in violent, aggressive, and criminal behavior (Vaughn et al., 2019). The same is true for psychopathy; on average,

people scoring high on the PCL-R engage in more violent and aggressive behavior compared to individuals low on psychopathy (Hare, 1999; Serin, 1991) and brain imaging studies also lend support to this effect on a structural level (Wahlund & Kristiansson, 2009). Therefore, the link between TBI and psychopathy in incarcerated populations warrants investigation.

#### **Dataset and Statistical Analyses**

Data from adult men and women from correctional facilities in New Mexico and Wisconsin were used for the studies presented herein. Individuals who have had a TBI are compared to those who have not. PCL-R total score, factor and facet scores are calculated and compared between the groups TBI– (no history of TBI) vs. TBI+ (history of TBI). Severity of TBI (mild vs. severe), time of loss of consciousness (LOC) after TBI, and other variables have been shown to affect cognitive and behavioral outcomes differently (Cappa et al., 2011). Hence, these and other additional variables such as age at first TBI, total number of TBIs, mental health disorders, and substance use were included in the analyses.

Previous studies have not considered whether assessing psychopathy in groups with and without history of TBI measure the same latent construct and hence whether comparing these two groups is statistically valid. This is especially important when one would expect differences between the groups. Therefore, for more rigorous assessment, we included a statistical assessment tool, that is measurement invariance testing to determine whether the two groups (TBI+ and TBI–) represent the same latent construct.

Measurement invariance testing was performed using multiple group confirmatory analysis (MG-CFA).

## Hypotheses

Given that TBI and psychopathy show similar outcomes in terms of personality, behavior, and emotional and cognitive traits and that there is evidence of a history of TBI showing higher scores of psychopathy in juveniles, it is hypothesized that PCL-R total scores and PCL-R factor and facet structure differ between TBI+ and TBI- groups in adults as well. For both men and women, it is expected that PCL-R scores are higher in individuals with a history of TBI compared to no history of TBI. No research exists on the specifics of PCL-R factor and facet structures with regards to TBI history. Therefore, analyses examining factor and facet structures will be exploratory.

# CHAPTER 2

Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychopathic Traits in Justice-Involved Adult Women

The manuscript "Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychopathic Traits in Justice-Involved Adult Women" has been accepted for publication at the Journal of Personality Disorders on 09/28/2022. Permission for use of the manuscript has been granted by Guilford Press on 10/06/2022.

Cappelle, T., Neumann, C. S., Cook, A. M., Kim, E., Harenski, C. L., Edwards, B. G., Clarke, G. J. B., Decety, J., Kiehl, K. A. (in press). Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychopathic Traits in Justice-Involved Adult Women. *Journal of Personality Disorders*.

# **Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychopathic Traits**

## in Justice-Involved Adult Women

Tessa Cappelle<sup>1</sup>

Craig S. Neumann<sup>2</sup>

Amanda M. Cook<sup>3</sup>

Esther Kim<sup>2</sup>

Carla L. Harenski<sup>3</sup>

Bethany G. Edwards<sup>1,3</sup>

Gerard J. B. Clarke<sup>3</sup>

Jean Decety<sup>4</sup>

Kent A. Kiehl<sup>1,3</sup>

Corresponding author address during review:

Tessa Cappelle, 2304 Garfield Avenue SE, Apt. D, 87106 Albuquerque, NM + 1 505-507-9741, tcappelle@unm.edu Corresponding authors after publication: Kent A. Kiehl (<u>kkiehl@unm.edu</u>); Craig Neumann (<u>craig.neumann@unt.edu</u>)

<sup>1</sup>University of New Mexico, Department of Psychology, Albuquerque, NM USA <sup>2</sup>University of North Texas, Denton, TX USA <sup>3</sup>Mind Research Network, Albuquerque, NM USA <sup>4</sup>University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

#### Abstract

Studies have documented associations between traumatic brain injury (TBI) and mental disorders. The relationship between psychopathic personality and TBI remains poorly understood, though both are associated with similar characteristics (e.g., low empathy, aggression, disturbances in social/moral behavior). Yet, it is not clear whether assessment of psychopathic features is influenced by presence versus absence of TBI, and which aspects of TBI may be associated with psychopathic traits. This study examined the psychopathy-TBI association in justice-involved women (N = 341) via structural equation modeling. We tested if measurement invariance of psychopathic traits was evident among those with versus without TBI and which TBI variables (number, severity, age at first TBI) predicted psychopathic features in conjunction with symptoms of psychopathology, IQ, and age. Results provided evidence of measurement invariance, and more women with TBI, compared to those without, met criteria for psychopathy. Younger age of TBI and TBI severity predicted interpersonal-affective psychopathic features.

Keywords: Psychopathy; Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI); PCL-R; Inmates; Measurement invariance; Females.

## Introduction

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is viewed as "complex in texture, massive in scale, full of important research challenges, and largely as unrecognized—or as misunderstood—by the public and most clinicians" (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine [NASEM] 2022, p. xi). The complexity of TBI is perhaps best understood in terms a bio-psycho-social- ecological framework (NASEM, 2022). Non-fatal TBI was estimated in 2016 to have overall healthcare costs over \$40 billion (USD) dollars (Miller et al., 2021). Even 'mild' TBI poses considerable risk to the individual and the larger society in which they live (Perry et al., 2016). In addition, many studies have shown that TBI increases risk for mental disorders and antisocial behavior, but it is also the case that previous mental disorders and antisociality can increase risk of TBI (Elbogen et al., 2015; Koponen et al., 2011). Thus, it is reasonable to adopt a reciprocal effects perspective when discussing the association between TBI and mental disorders.

TBI is defined as "an alteration in brain function, or other evidence of brain pathology, caused by an external force" (Menon et al., 2010). Studies have clearly documented an association between TBI and presence of mental disorders (Koponen et al., 2002), particularly depression and anxiety (Scholten et al., 2016). Among individuals with TBI, mental disorders are more prevalent and longer lasting compared to the general population. This holds true across the spectrum of TBI severity from mild to severe (Vaishnavi et al., 2009).

Furthermore, mild TBI either *with* or *without* loss of consciousness (LOC) have similar negative outcomes (Barnes et al., 2018), including symptoms of psychopathology and personality pathology (Kennedy et al., 2015; McHugo et al., 2017;

Perkes et al., 2011; Perry et al., 2016; Schofield et al., 2006). At the same time, some studies suggest TBI *with* LOC may be linked to greater psychiatric disorders (Perry et al., 2016) or cognitive disturbances (Bedard et al., 2020). Finally, both retrospective (Hammond et al., 2019) and prospective studies (Gould et al., 2011) have shown TBI to influence the expression of mental disorders. As noted, a proportion of individuals who suffer TBI display various mental disorders pre-TBI (Koponen et al., 2011), though emergence of novel mental disorders also occurs (Gould et al., 2011; Ponsford et al., 2018), highlighting the reciprocal TBI-psychopathology association.

Population-based studies have also examined the link between TBI and mental disorders, with one study reporting a dose-response relationship between mental disorder and TBI severity (Sariaslan et al., 2016) and another finding no influence of severity (Orlovska et al., 2014). Interestingly, these two studies differed with respect to the age groups that showed the greatest risk of mental disorder after TBI. Sariaslan et al. (2016) found that TBI between the ages 20-24 posed the greatest risk of mental disorder, while Orlovska et al. (2014) reported that TBI between ages 11-15 was associated with greatest risk of mental disorder. Given the absence of definitive research thus far, severity and age of TBI should be examined further to understand the link between TBI and mental disorder.

Another factor besides age that may influence the effects of TBI is biological sex. For instance, research suggests that men and women differ in neural connectivity post-TBI (McGlade et al., 2015) and potentially other neurobiological factors (Valera et al., 2021). In addition, it appears that men are more likely to display externalizing and women internalizing psychopathology post-TBI (McGlade et al., 2015; Scott et al.,

2015). However, most TBI studies have focused on men given their higher overall odds of such injury (Feigin et al., 2013), even though women are more vulnerable to TBI due to intimate partner violence (Valera et al., 2021).

Personality changes can also occur with TBI in terms of increased disinhibition, apathy, and problematic social behaviors (Blair & Cipolotti, 2000; Norup & Mortensen, 2015; Spikman et al., 2013) as well as aggression and affective lability (Max et al., 2001; Tateno et al., 2003).

These personality changes may be related to damage to the orbitofrontal and ventromedial prefrontal cortices (Adolphs et al., 2000; Critchley et al., 2000) – areas often implicated in TBI (McAllister, 2011), as well as the neurobiology of psychopathic personality (Kiehl, 2006). Lesions in these brain areas are associated with aggression, irresponsibility, and lack of concern for social/moral rules (Blair & Cipolotti, 2000; Ciaramelli et al., 2007; Eslinger & Damasio, 1985). Babbage et al. (2011) found that even moderate TBI was linked with low empathy and other studies identified emotion perception deficits (de Sousa et al., 2010; Williams & Wood, 2010; Wood & Williams, 2008). As it turns out, these sequalae of TBI are also characteristics seen in individuals with psychopathic personality (De Brito et al., 2021), thus raising the question of whether TBI and psychopathy have a shared underlying neurobiology. For instance, research on the effects of TBI suggest that there are detectable disturbances in white matter integrity, even with mild TBI (Dailey et al., 2018) and the neurobiological processes associated with TBI may play a role in increasing risk of mental disorder (McAllister, 2011).

Similarly, psychopathy is associated with disturbances in white matter integrity

(Hoppenbrouwers et al., 2013; Maurer et al., 2020; Vermeij et al., 2018; Wolf et al., 2015). And yet, little research has examined the strength of the empirical association between TBI and psychopathy. It is far too early to say whether aspects of TBI account for psychopathic traits or the reverse, and thus, at this point, it would be prudent to assume any such association is reciprocal.

TBI is not only associated with changes in personality but also increased likelihood of personality disorders (Koponen et al., 2002), particularly antisocial personality disorder (ASPD; Koponen et al., 2011). Psychopathy is closely related to ASPD, though not synonymous with it, given the former involves far more profound disturbances in empathy, as well as greater risk for violence and criminal behavior (Olver et al., 2020). One relevant study reported elevated psychopathic traits among primarily justice-involved juvenile men with TBI (Vaughn & Salas-Wright, 2014). Results from this study also indicated that adolescents with TBI (vs. those without) displayed more delinquency, substance use, and psychological distress, along with victimization experiences. Recently, Vaughn and colleagues (Olson & Vaughn, 2021) reported results for justice-involved juveniles (both genders), with TBI predicting increases in callous- unemotional and impulsivity traits while controlling for a range of sociodemographic factors.

Justice-involved persons are at high risk for TBI (Frost et al., 2013; Schneider et al., 2021) and history of TBI is linked to increased risk for future criminal behavior (Elbogen et al., 2015), even when controlling for other critical variables such as family factors and substance abuse (Fazel et al., 2011). Nevertheless, the relationship between TBI and antisocial behavior is complex and a host of premorbid TBI factors are

involved (Elbogen et al., 2015). Increased longitudinal risk for criminal arrest after TBI appears to be particularly robust when there is premorbid substance abuse and prior criminal behavior (Elbogen et al., 2015), both of which are linked to psychopathic personality (Neumann & Hare, 2008).

The Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R; Hare, 1991; Hare, 2003) counts as the gold standard to assess psychopathy in prison populations. The psychopathy construct has been validated via statistical modeling. Specifically, a four-factor model has shown good fit across a range of sample types and assessment approaches (Neumann et al., 2015). The four factors reflect interpersonal (*conning, deceitful*) and affective (*callousness, remorseless*) personality traits, along with deviant behavioral lifestyle (*impulsive, reckless*) and antisocial/developmental features (*early behavioral problems, poor behavioral control, aggression*). These four factors can be represented in terms of two broad domains reflecting interpersonal-affective traits (Factor 1) and social deviance (Factor 2), and there is a wealth of literature on Factor1 and 2 (Hare & Neumann, 2008).

The prevalence of psychopathy is substantially higher in justice-involved populations, compared to the general population (Neumann & Hare, 2008), and the same pattern holds for TBI (Frost et al., 2013; Shiroma et al., 2012). Among justiceinvolved samples of women, the estimates of TBI range from 55-70% (Farrer & Hedges, 2011; Schneider et al., 2021; Shiroma et al., 2012). As noted, psychopathology predisposes risk for TBI and TBI predisposes risk for psychopathology (McAllister, 2011). Since psychopathic personality has a robust association with disturbances in empathy, social/moral behavior, as well as aggression and violence (De Brito et al.,

2021; Neumann & Hare, 2008; Olver et al., 2020), the occurrence of TBI may increase risk for violence among individuals with pre-morbid psychopathic features, in line with previous research (Elbogen et al., 2015).

Given that psychopathy and related personality pathology are associated not only with impulsivity and aggression (e.g., Jackson et al., 2007; Kjærvik & Bushman, 2021; Olver et al., 2020), but also with disturbances in empathy and social/moral behavior, and similarly for TBI (Rao et al., 2009; Roy, Vaishnavi et al., 2017), we expected a positive association between psychopathy and TBI. Moreover, a novel test of this association would be to document it in women. Since men, compared to women, present with higher levels of psychopathic traits in offender (Hare, 2003) and nonoffender samples (Neumann et al., 2021), examination of TBI in samples of women can be informative. Evidence of higher psychopathic features in women with TBI would further establish an association between TBI and psychopathic personality. However, before comparisons of psychopathic traits can be made between individuals with versus without TBI, it is critical to establish that such assessments can be carried out in an unbiased and precise manner.

While research on TBI and mental disorders documents a positive (reciprocal) association, most studies employ relatively basic statistical approaches and do not formally account for measurement error (i.e., manifest vs. latent variable approaches). Since error can attenuate and bias results, advanced statistical approaches, such as structural equation modeling (SEM), can provide more precise estimates of the TBI-psychopathy association. Critically, no TBI comparison studies have employed statistical approaches to ensure that fundamental measurement bias is not an issue.

Before investigators can confidently assess the association of mental disorders among those *with* (+) versus *without* (-) TBI, it is essential to assess whether specific measurement parameters are equivalent among the TBI (+/-) groups. Furthermore, many studies simply compare individuals with TBI to those without TBI, and therefore miss the opportunity to examine how more dynamic TBI variables (e.g., TBI severity, age at first TBI) might be linked with different psychopathic trait domains.

Item-level analyses of psychological inventories are essential to understand how individuals respond to or are rated on items that are empirically tied to theoretical latent constructs (Reise, 1999). For psychopathy scales, item-level latent variable models provide quantitative information on how well items discriminate individuals with different degrees of psychopathic propensity (Roy et al., 2021). In addition to showing that items discriminate equally well among groups of individuals (e.g., TBI + vs -), it is critical to determine if a given trait score for two different groups represents that same level of the underlying latent trait (e.g., psychopathic personality). Technically, this is the case when the item threshold (i.e., extremity or difficulty) parameters are also statistically equivalent across groups. There is good evidence that the item discrimination and threshold parameters for many psychopathy assessments are equivalent across genders (Bolt et al., 2004; Neumann et al. 2012) and race/ethnicity (Jackson et al., 2007; Olver et al., 2018). Yet, to our knowledge, no study has examined whether presence of TBI might influence the assessment of psychopathic traits among justice-involved samples, where over half are estimated to have a history of TBI. To do so, it is important to determine whether the latent (PCL-R) item parameters differ between groups of individuals with and without history of TBI. If parameter

equivalence is evident, we can then say that differences in PCL-R trait expression as a function of TBI status are true and meaningful.

As part of our ongoing research on TBI and psychopathy across a range of samples, the current study used SEM with a large sample of justice-involved women assessed for psychopathic personality, history of TBI (+/-), presence of major mental disorders, and IQ. Multiple group confirmatory factor analysis (MG-CFA) was conducted to test for measurement invariance of the psychopathy assessment among the TBI groups. We expected evidence of measurement invariance and that a greater proportion of TBI+ cases would meet criteria of psychopathy (PCL-R  $\geq$  25), compared to TBI- cases, based on the evidence that TBI is associated with a range of mental disorders, including antisocial personality disorder.

Next, we specified a SEM with age of TBI, number of TBIs and TBI WHO severity of TBI as predictors of psychopathic propensity, in conjunction with current age, IQ, and mental disorder symptoms (anxiety, depression, substance use), since they too are empirically associated with TBI (Elbogen et al., 2015). Given the dearth of research on psychopathy and TBI, it is difficult to provide specific SEM hypotheses, other than we expected a positive association between TBI severity and psychopathic traits. Moreover, open questions remain as to which domains of psychopathic traits might be correlated with TBI, which TBI variables might provide the most robust association and whether age of TBI onset might also be (inversely) linked to psychopathic traits. For instance, TBI is elevated in justice-involved samples, along with elevated levels of aggression and impulsivity. And since psychopathy is also associated with aggression and impulsivity, it is likely that the association between TBI and

psychopathy would not be specific to Factor 2 traits (especially among women). On the other hand, based on the neurobiology of TBI and psychopathy (e.g., white matter disturbances), and that both are associated with disturbances in empathy and social/moral behavior, one might speculate that aspects of TBI should be associated with interpersonal-affective (Factor 1) traits.

#### Methods

#### Procedure

Participants were recruited via word of mouth and fliers; research staff went to units in the prison to present the study to inmates and distribute fliers. All participants provided written informed consent prior to enrolment. Participants were financially compensated at a rate proportional to work assignments at their facility. Study procedures were approved by the Ethical and Independent Review Services and University of New Mexico Institutional Review Boards.

Protocol assessments were conducted in a private office at the prison facility and administered by trained research staff. All research staff underwent extensive training and supervision before independently interviewed participants.

#### **Participants**

The current study involved 341 incarcerated women with a mean age of 37.06 years (8.51 SD), all of whom were serving sentences in New Mexico and had volunteered for NIH funded research (1R01AA026290-01A1; 5R01MH109329-02; R01NS118075; 1R56DA026505; 1R01MH085010-01A1; 1R01DA020870-01). The ethnic breakdown

was as follows: 32.8%, White non-Latino, 46.3% Latino, 10% American Indian/Alaska Native, 8.2% Black, and 2.6% individuals who indicated other ethnic backgrounds. All participants included in this study met the following inclusion criteria: age between 18 and 65, fourth grade reading level or higher, standard IQ score of 70 or higher (as determined by the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS-III; Wechsler, 1997), and no history of psychotic disorder (self) or a 1<sup>st</sup>-degree relative. History of psychotic disorder (self) was assessed via the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM Disorders (SCID-IV; First et al., 1997), administered by trained research staff and supplemented by institutional records, or by self- report (1<sup>st</sup> degree relative).

#### Measures

Psychopathy was assessed using the Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R; Hare, 2003), an expert-administered, semi-structured interview with extensive file review to provide collateral information for scoring participants on 20 items. Each item is rated on a three-point scale: 0 = no evidence, 1 = some evidence, and 2 = pervasive evidence in many domains of an individual's life. Out of a maximum of 40 points, a score of 30 or higher is the recommended cutoff for a diagnosis of psychopathy for men and a score of 25 is recommended for women (Jackson et al., 2002). These traits are further divided into two major factors.

Factor 1 represents interpersonal (facet 1) and affective (facet 2) traits such as grandiosity, glibness, and lack of empathy and remorse. Factor 2 involves lifestyle (facet 3) and antisocial/developmental traits (facet 4) including impulsiveness and overt lifetime antisocial behavior (Hare & Neumann, 2008). Interviews were conducted by

staff with extensive PCL-R and related assessment training and supervision. For our planned MG-CFA, we employed item level data to test for measurement invariance. For our planned SEM, we employed mean item PCL-R facet scores (i.e., total facet score divided by the number of items for a given facet). Thus, we used dimensional facet scores that ranged from 0-2. Facet mean item scores (SDs) were, interpersonal 0.42 (0.38), affective 0.75 (0.47), lifestyle 1.12 (0.44), antisocial 1.24 (0.46).

Diagnoses for mental disorders were based on criteria from the Structured Clinical Interview for the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) IV-TR Axis I disorders – Patient Edition (SCID-I/P; First, 1997) or from the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5 – Research Version (First et al., 2015). All assessors were extensively trained and vetted during supervised and videotaped sessions. For the mental disorder variables, mean scores were computed for presence of any depression or anxiety disorder based on the ratings 0=none, 1=subthreshold, 2=threshold. All potential substance use disorders (SUD) were rated with 0=none, 1=abuse, 2=dependence. Given that we used composite scores for theses variables we employed continuous decimal scores (from 0-2). Thus, we were able to keep the SUD, mood, anxiety disorder variables as close to the same score range as the mean PCL-R facet scores to avoid having variables with large discrepancies in variance, which can potentially sway the results (Bentler, 1995). Together, these variables allowed us to employ maximum likelihood estimation for our planned SEM. Our overall goal was to model continuous mental disorder scores in line with a dimensional approach for representing psychopathology.

Mean scores (SD/Range) for the composites were: depression 1.14 (0.18/1.5),

anxiety 1.11 (0.21/1.67), and substance use disorders 1.68 (0.30/1.63). As would be expected, given the relatively low prevalence of mood and anxiety disorders, the mood and anxiety composites, respectively, showed positive skew (.759, 2.45), though not surprisingly given high prevalence of SUD in justice-involved samples, the SUD composite was nearly normally distributed (.166).

IQ was estimated using the vocabulary and matrix reasoning sub-tests using either the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (Wechsler, 2011), or the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale III (Wechsler, 1997).

The TBI variables (age at first TBI, number of TBIs, WHO severity of TBI) were collected by trained researchers either via the post head injury symptoms questionnaire that was modified from the Rivermead Post Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire (King et al., 1995), or by using an internally created TBI questionnaire.<sup>1</sup> Both questionnaires were uniform in terms of the specific items pertaining to TBI (i.e., ever had, number, severity of TBI, age(s) of TBI, loss of consciousness, and nature of post-TBI symptoms) so that TBI severity could be operationalized. The Rivermead questionnaire does ask about more post-TBI symptoms, though these specific questions were not used in the present study. The internal TBI questionnaire was administered for only a minority of cases.<sup>2</sup> In this questionnaire, TBI was counted if it resulted in loss of consciousness (see Supplementary Materials for both questionnaires). For all later timepoints for most participants (94%+), history of TBI was assessed via the Rivermead

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See supplementary materials for a copy of the modified Rivermead and internal questionnaires.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Less than 6% of participants (N = 20) were assessed with the internally created questionnaire. Additional analyses indicated no differences in cases with versus without TBI ( $x(1)^2 = 0.73$ , p > .05), as a function of questionnaire, and no differences on the TBI, PCL-R, or mood/anxiety/SUD variables (*p*'s range = .213 to .901).

questionnaire, given continued evidence for its validity (Plass et al., 2019), and was defined as an individual reporting at least one TBI of any severity. In other words, a person had experienced a head injury and provided a positive endorsement of at least 2 (= mild problem) or higher (3 = moderate problem; 4 = severe problem). Mild TBI severity scores were coded with respect to World Health Organization (WHO) criteria for mild TBI (mTBI; Holm, et al., 2005).

Specifically, "Mild TBI is an acute brain injury resulting from mechanical energy to the head from external physical forces. Operational criteria for clinical identification include: (i) 1 or more of the following: confusion or disorientation, loss of consciousness for thirty minutes or less, post-traumatic amnesia for less than 24 hours, and/or other transient neurological abnormalities such as focal signs, seizure, and intracranial lesion not requiring surgery; [...] These manifestations of mTBI must not be due to drugs, alcohol, medications, caused by other injuries or treatment for other injuries (e.g., systemic injuries, facial injuries or intubation), caused by other problems (e.g., psychological trauma, language barrier or coexisting medical conditions) or caused by penetrative cerebral injury" (Holm et al., p.140). Participants whose loss of consciousness exceeded thirty minutes or whose post-traumatic amnesia exceeded 24 hours were classified as moderate/severe TBI. In our sample, 43.7% of individuals had a history of TBI and the majority of these met criteria for mTBI (80%). Mean age of first TBI was 19.72 (SD 9.39).<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Additional analyses indicated that there were no differences for the age of onset/number of TBIs or the PCL-R variables among the TBI cases with versus without loss of consciousness that exceeded thirty minutes (p's range = .203 to .333). Results were similar for the mood, anxiety, or SUD composites (p's range = .374 to .735)
#### Statistical Analyses

An SEM approach was employed to compare PCL-R item parameters (loadings, thresholds) across TBI +/- cases, based on the four-factor PCL-R model of psychopathy (Hare & Neumann, 2008). Specifically, MG-CFA was used to examine whether those with TBI history (TBI+) versus without TBI history (TBI-) differed in terms of PCL-R parameters. A strong measurement invariance model was tested such that factor loadings and threshold parameters were fixed for both TBI groups. The invariance model was statistically compared to the same four-factor model that was specified without item parameter constraints. With evidence of measurement invariance (equality of latent item parameters), we can ensure that comparisons of observed (manifest) psychopathy scores are not due to fundamental differences in measurement across the TBI groups (Olver et al., 2018; Walsh et al., 2019). Also, MG-CFA provides comparison of latent means to test if differences in the psychopathy factors exist among the TBI (+/-) groups.

To compare the MG-CFA models, we did not rely on the traditional chi-square difference test since large sample sizes produce significant chi-square values even when the discrepancies between two models are trivial (West et al., 2012). West and colleagues (West et al., 2012) suggest using guidelines laid out by Cheung and Rensvold (2002) to assess statistical differences in model fit. If the change in the comparative fit index ( $\Delta$ CFI) between one model and a nested, more constrained model is  $\leq$  .01, then the two models do not differ in statistical fit. Recent research (Roy et al., 2021) suggests that use of  $\Delta$ CFI is reasonable with ordinal data when one has good fitting models such as the four-factor PCL-R model of psychopathy (Neumann et al.,

2015).

Next, an SEM was specified to examine the associations of TBI on psychopathic traits. While analysis of variance (ANOVA) is often employed (Rutherford, 2001), SEM provides a more powerful approach (Cole et al., 1993; Tomarken & Waller, 2005) since SEM formally accounts for measurement error. Therefore, we employed a multi-indicator-multiple-cause model (MIMC; Breitsohl, 2019) to examine the effect of the TBI variables on the latent PCL-R domains. Our SEM was specified such that the TBI variables (age at first TBI, number of TBI, WHO-defined severity of TBI), current age, IQ, and the depression, anxiety, and substance use composites predicted the two broad psychopathy domains (F1 and F2). All predictors were set to freely correlate. For the SEM, scale composites were used for mental disorder variables and psychopathy indicators of the F1 and F2 factors to minimize the number of model parameters and improve the subjects-to-free parameters ratio.

Analyses were conducted using Mplus with robust weighted least squares for item-level data and maximum likelihood estimation for continuous data (Muthén & Muthén, 2010).

Traditional CFI  $\geq$  .90 and RMSEA  $\leq$  .08 fit cut-offs were used as indicative of acceptable model fit (West et al., 2012). This rationale was used given that model complexity increases the difficulty of achieving conventional levels of model fit (Marsh et al., 2004). We chose to use conventional criteria to avoid falsely rejecting a viable latent variable model.

## Results

#### **Descriptive Results**

A subset of the total sample (n = 41) received PCL-R ratings from two independent interviewers. These results indicated that the PCL-R ratings met standard criteria for good reliability (ICCs: PCL-R Total = .96; Factor 1 = .89, Factor 2 = .94; facets 1-4 = .84-.95). For the total sample, PCL-R total score was 18.36 (SD = 6.21) and for the TBI +/- groups respectively were, 18.97 (6.70) and 17.86 (6.07). The prevalence of women with a total of 25 or greater was ~16%. One- tailed chi-square analysis indicated that more women with PCL-R total score  $\geq 25$  had a history of TBI (~20%), compared to those below (~12%) the cut-off, (2, 1) = 3.77, p < .05. To conduct additional chi-square analyses, we dichotomized the mental disorder variables to form groups with versus without evidence of mental disorder. Consistent with previous research, there were more women with TBI who displayed evidence of depression (57%) or anxiety (42%), compared to those without a TBI (33%, 21%), respectively,  $^{b}(1) = 17.05, p < .001$  and  $^{b}(1) = 12.45, p < .001$ . However, there were somewhat fewer women with TBI with evidence of a substance use disorder (92%), compared to those without a TBI (98%), (200, 100) = 5.67, p < .05.

#### Multiple Group Confirmatory Factor Analyses

Model fit for the four-factor model of psychopathy was acceptable and there was no meaningful difference between the constrained (CFI = .90, TLI = .88; RMSEA = .05, SRMR = .09) and unconstrained (CFI = .90, TLI = .87; RMSEA = .05, SRMR = .09) models ( $\Delta$ CFI = .00). These results provide evidence of strong measurement

invariance. All factor loadings and factor correlations were significant (all p's < .01 - .001). MG-CFA provides comparisons of latent PCL-R means. Mplus by default sets one group's latent means to zero (in this case those without TBI) so that comparisons can be made with the other group. The results indicated that those with TBI had significantly higher affective traits (*latent mean* = .29, p < .05) and a trend for higher antisocial features (*latent mean* = .15, p = .11). The latent means for interpersonal (.02 p > .05) and lifestyle traits (.09, p > .05) did not differ. Figure 1 displays the standardized parameters for TBI groups (+/-), which highlights strong factor loadings (mean = .64) and moderately strong factor correlations (mean = .54).

## Structural Equation Modeling

The SEM had good model fit ( $\sqrt{2}(17) = 33.47$ , CFI = .95, RMSEA = .04, BIC = 8803). Figure 2 shows the significant standardized structural parameters (see Figure 2 note for average values of *ns* parameters and Supplementary Materials for full Mplus SEM output). Earlier age of TBI (*beta* = -.26, *p* < .05), severity of TBI (*beta* = .29, *p* < .01), and substance use (*beta* = .18, *p* < .05) predicted higher interpersonal-affective (F1) psychopathic features (R<sup>2</sup> = .15). Consistent with previous research, younger current age (*beta* = -.28, *p* < .05) and substance use (*beta* = .54, *p* < .001) predicted social deviance (F2) (R<sup>2</sup> = .42).<sup>4</sup> Finally, the mood and anxiety composites, respectively, were correlated with number (.21, .20, *p*'s < .001) and severity (.25, .21, *p*'s < .001) of TBIs. Age modestly correlated with the mood composite (.11, *p* < .05).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> To be comprehensive, we also tested an SEM whereby the four PCL-R facets loaded onto a single psychopathy factor, which resulted on poor fit ( $\frac{1}{2}(26) = 88.07$ , CFI = .83, RMSEA = .08, BIC = 8834), highlighting the multifarious nature of psychopathic personality.

## Discussion

Consistent with large sample modeling research on women and men (Neumann et al., 2015), the current results indicated that the four-factor model of psychopathy was associated with good model fit and showed evidence of measurement invariance across the TBI +/- groups. Thus, assessment of psychopathic traits in justice-involved women reflects the same personality pathology, irrespective of TBI status. Evidence of unbiased assessment of psychopathic features is a critically important finding, given that both TBI and psychopathy are highly prevalent in justice-involved samples. Our results should provide confidence for those doing assessment of psychopathy among justice-involved persons with or without TBI. Also of practical value is our finding that TBI + cases (vs. TBI -) had higher affective psychopathic features and a trend for higher overt antisocial features, thus signaling that such cases may require additional treatment and risk management resources.

Beyond the invariance testing, the SEM results provided a more nuanced picture of how TBI is associated with psychopathic features. Earlier age of TBI and more severe TBI predicted interpersonal-affective (F1) psychopathic features. These results could be due to the use of a sample of women, given they are less likely to show aggression than men (and thus F2 traits) post-TBI (Scott et al., 2015). On the other hand, there are interesting parallels between the neurobiology of TBI and psychopathy. Both are associated with disturbances in frontal-subcortical systems (Kiehl, 2006; McAllister, 2011) as well as white matter connectivity (Dailey et al., 2018; Hoppenbrouwers et al., 2013; Vermeij et al., 2018; Wolf et al., 2015), and therefore central nervous system (CNS) insults resulting from TBI could in theory have some

influence on the development of psychopathic personality. Moreover, that earlier age of TBI was a significant predictor of F1 traits suggests that CNS disruptions at earlier periods of neural maturation may be associated with the development of calloused interpersonal style (see also Anderson et al., 1999). At the same time, psychopathy and the lifestyle associated with this personality pathology could potentially increase the probability of TBI (Elbogen et al., 2015). Furthermore, the neurobiology that is associated with psychopathy could very well pre-date TBI. In this situation, one might confuse the neurobiological 'signature' of psychopathy with a similar pattern produced by TBI and mistakenly assume TBI caused the neuro-sequelae of psychopathy. As such, longitudinal research is needed to help uncover the dynamic nature of psychopathic propensities pre- and post-TBI.

Justice-involved populations of women have a high prevalence of TBI (Shiroma et al., 2012). Studies with justice-involved young and adult women have revealed the leading cause of TBI to be violence related (Brewer-Smyth et al., 2004; Durand et al., 2017; Moore et al., 2014; Schneider et al., 2021). In addition, justice-involved women experience high rates of interpersonal violence, often beginning at a young age (Browne et al., 1999) and intimate partner violence is significantly associated with TBI in women (Valera et al., 2021). Considering that the most common cause of TBI among incarcerated women is violence related, repeated victimization may also help explain why interpersonal-affective traits had a unique association with age and severity of TBI. That is, the interpersonal nature of the violence may be associated with expression of callous and interpersonally manipulative psychopathic propensities, along with the fact that TBI in women is less associated with overt aggression (e.g., F2 traits) compared to

men (Scott et al., 2015). Although research on TBI in women is lagging significantly behind studies with men, it appears that studies with women may help advance understanding of the causes and consequences TBI (Valera et al., 2021). Given that neural connectivity post-TBI may differ between the genders (McGlade et al., 2015), as well as internalizing-externalizing psychopathology (Scott et al., 2015), TBI in women might be specifically associated with F1 traits.

Finally, the results also revealed that TBI was associated with symptoms of anxiety and depression, consistent with other research (Ponsford et al., 2018). However, internalizing psychopathology did not have an association with psychopathic traits. Still, the presence of internalizing psychopathology may have implications for emotion regulation capacity, which can be affected by TBI (Tsaousides et al., 2017). Poor emotion regulation is associated with psychopathic features (Garofalo et al., 2020). Additional research on the links between emotion dysregulation, psychopathy, and TBI will help further explore this area of research.

#### Limitations

Our study employed a retrospective cross-sectional design, and therefore it is not possible (nor reasonable) to provide causal statements regarding the association between TBI and psychopathy. As we stated, at this point, it is best to adopt a reciprocal effects framework for understanding this association. Self-report of TBIs can be prone to false recall of incidents as well as underestimate of exposure to TBI (McKinlay & Albicini, 2016). Still, research suggests that self-report of TBIs among justice-involved individuals is generally accurate, with one study showing a 70% agreement between hospital records and self-report of TBI (Schofield et al., 2011). Also, research suggests

there is little evidence for an association between response distortion and psychopathy (Watts et al., 2016), which provides some additional confidence for the validity of our results. Yet, the nature of our TBI assessment may not represent the state of the art, and better assessments might reveal different results than ours.

Also, since the location of TBI was not available in the present dataset the relation between TBI location on psychopathic traits will be important to examine in future studies. Finally, mild TBI is associated with a host of psychiatric and neurological outcomes (NASEM, 2022; Perry et al., 2016), and studies show that associations of TBI with personality or other psychopathology is often seen among individuals with mild TBI *without* LOC (McHugo et al., 2017; Perry et al., 2016). Nevertheless, research suggests that TBI *with* LOC status should continue to be examined (Bedard et al., 2020). To this end, it would be wise for investigators to use in-depth assessment not only for psychopathology, but also TBI, such as, the Ohio State University TBI Identification Method (Corrigan & Bogner, 2007).

#### Conclusions

The current study found support for unbiased assessment of psychopathic traits among justice- involved women with or without history of TBI. Participants with TBI displayed significantly higher affective psychopathic features compared to those without TBI, and among the TBI+ group, a greater proportion of individuals met criteria for psychopathic personality disorder. Finally, age at first TBI and severity of TBI were significant predictors of interpersonal-affective psychopathic traits.

# Acknowledgements

The authors greatly appreciate the women who participated in this study and helped advance the scientific literature on TBI among justice-involved persons. This study was made possible by the following NIH funding, 1R01AA026290-01A1; 5R01MH109329-02; R01NS118075; 1R56DA026505; 1R01MH085010-01A1; 1R01DA020870-01

#### References

- Adolphs, R., Damasio, H., Tranel, D., Cooper, G., & Damasio, A. R. (2000). A role for somatosensory cortices in the visual recognition of emotion as revealed by threedimensional lesion mapping. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(7), 2683–2690.
- Anderson, Steven W., Bechara, Antoine, Damasio, Hanna, Tranel, Daniel, & Damasio, Antonio R. (1999). Impairment of social and moral behavior related to early damage in human prefrontal cortex. *Nature Neuroscience*, 2, 1032–1037.
- Babbage, D. R., Yim, J., Zupan, B., Neumann, D., Tomita, M. R., & Willer, B. (2011).
   Meta- Analysis of Facial Affect Recognition Difficulties After Traumatic Brain Injury. *Neuropsychology*, 25(3), 277–285.
- Barnes, D. E., Byers, A. L., Gardner, R. C., Seal, K. H., Boscardin, W. J., & Yaffe, K. (2018). Association of mild traumatic brain injury with and without loss of consciousness with dementia in US military veterans. *Journal of the American Medical Association Neurology*, 75(9), 1055–1061.
- Bedard, M., Steffener, J. & Taler, V. (2020) Long-term cognitive impairment following single mild traumatic brain injury with loss of consciousness: Findings from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging, *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 42(4), 344–351.
- Bentler, P. M. (1995). EQS Structural Equations Program Manual (Vol. 6). Encino, CA: Multivariate software.
- Blair, R. J. R., & Cipolotti, L. (2000). Impaired social response reversal. A case of "acquired sociopathy." *Brain*, 123(6), 1122–1141.

Bolt, D. M., Hare, R. D., Vitale, J. E., & Newman, J. P. (2004). A multigroup item

response theory analysis of the Psychopathy Checklist-Revised. *Psychological Assessment*, *16*(2), 155–168.

- Breitsohl, H. (2019). Beyond ANOVA: An Introduction to Structural Equation Models for Experimental Designs. *Organizational Research Methods*, *22*(3), 649–677.
- Brewer-Smyth, K., Burgess, A. W., & Shults, J. (2004). Physical and sexual abuse, salivary cortisol, and neurologic correlates of violent criminal behavior in female prison inmates. *Biological Psychiatry*, 55(1), 21–31.
- Browne, A., Miller, B., & Maguin, E. (1999). Prevalence and severity of lifetime physical and sexual victimization among incarcerated women. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 22(3–4), 301–322.
- Cheung, G. W., & Rensvold, R. B. (2002). Evaluating goodness-of-fit indexes for testing measurement invariance. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 9(2), 233–255.
- Ciaramelli, E., Muccioli, M., Làdavas, E., & Di Pellegrino, G. (2007). Selective deficit in personal moral judgment following damage to ventromedial prefrontal cortex. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 2(2), 84– 92.
- Cole, D. A., Maxwell, S. E., Arvey, R., & Salas, E. (1993). Multivariate Group Comparisons of Variable Systems: MANOVA and Structural Equation Modeling. *Psychological Bulletin*, 114(1), 174–184.
- Corrigan J. D., Bogner J. (2007). Screening and identification of TBI. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 22, 315–317.
- Critchley, H., Daly, E., Phillips, M., Brammer, M., Bullmore, E., Williams, S., ... Murphy, D. (2000). Explicit and implicit neural mechanisms for processing of

social information from facial expressions: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Human Brain Mapping*, *9*(2), 93–105.

- Dailey, N. S., Smith, R., Bajaj, S., Alkozei, A., Gottschlich, M. K., Raikes, A. C., ... Killgore, W. D. S. (2018). Elevated aggression and reduced white matter integrity in mild traumatic brain injury: A DTI study. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 12(June), 1–11.
- De Brito, S. A., Forth, A. E., Baskin-Sommers, A. R., Brazil, I. A., Kimonis, E. R., Pardini, D., ... & Viding, E. (2021). Psychopathy. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 7(1), 1–21.
- de Sousa, A., McDonald, S., Rushby, J., Li, S., Dimoska, A., & James, C. (2010). Why don't you feel how I feel? Insight into the absence of empathy after severe Traumatic Brain Injury. *Neuropsychologia*, *48*(12), 3585–3595.
- Durand, E., Watier, L., Lécu, A., Fix, M., Weiss, J. J., Chevignard, M., & Pradat-Diehl,
  P. (2017). Traumatic brain injury among female offenders in a prison population: results of the FleuryTBI study. *Brain and Behavior*, 7(1), 1–10.
- Elbogen, E. B., Wolfe, J. R., Cueva, M., Sullivan, C., & Johnson, J. (2015). Longitudinal predictors of criminal arrest after traumatic brain injury: results from the Traumatic Brain Injury Model System National Database. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 30(5), E3.
- Eslinger, P. J., & Damasio, A. R. (1985). Severe disturbance of higher cognition after bilateral frontal lobe ablation: Patient EVR. *Neurology*, *35*(12), 1731–1741.
- Farrer, T. J., & Hedges, D. W. (2011). Prevalence of traumatic brain injury in incarcerated groups compared to the general population: A meta-analysis.

Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 35(2), 390– 394.

- Fazel, S., Lichtenstein, P., Grann, M., & Långström, N. (2011). Risk of violent crime in individuals with epilepsy and traumatic brain injury: a 35-year Swedish population study. *PLoS Medicine*, 8(12), e1001150.
- Feigin, V. L., Theadom, A., Barker-Collo, S., Starkey, N. J., McPherson, K., Kahan, M.,
  ... & BIONIC Study Group. (2013). Incidence of traumatic brain injury in New
  Zealand: a population-based study. *The Lancet Neurology*, *12*(1), 53–64.
- First, M B, Williams, J. B. W., Karg, R. S., & Spitzer, R. L. (2015). Structured clinical interview for DSM-5—Research version (SCID-5 for DSM-5, research version; SCID-5-RV). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association, 1–94.
- First, Michael B. (1997). Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV axis I disorders. Biometrics Research Department.
- Frost, R. B., Farrer, T. J., Primosch, M., & Hedges, D. W. (2013). Prevalence of traumatic brain injury in the general adult population: A meta-analysis. *Neuroepidemiology*, 40(3), 154–159.
- Garofalo, C., Neumann, C. S., & Mark, D. (2020). Associations Between Psychopathy and the Trait Meta-Mood Scale in Incarcerated Males: A Combined Latent Variable- and Person- Centered Approach. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 47(3), 331–351.
- Gould, K. R., Ponsford, J. L., Johnston, L., & Schönberger, M. (2011). The nature, frequency and course of psychiatric disorders in the first year after traumatic brain injury: A prospective study. *Psychological Medicine*, 41(10), 2099–2109.

- Hammond, F. M., Corrigan, J. D., Ketchum, J. M., Malec, J. F., Dams-O'Connor, K.,
  Hart, T., ... Whiteneck, G. G. (2019). Prevalence of Medical and Psychiatric
  Comorbidities Following Traumatic Brain Injury. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 34(4), E1–E10.
- Hare, R. D. (1991). Manual for the Hare Psychopathy Checklist Revised. Multi-Health Systems.
- Hare, R. D. (2003). The psychopathy checklist-Revised. Toronto, ON, 412.
- Hare, R. D., & Neumann, C. S. (2008). Psychopathy as a clinical and empirical construct. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *4*, 217–246.
- Hare, T. A., Camerer, C. F., & Rangel, A. (2009). Self-control in decision-making involves modulation of the vmPFC valuation system. *Science*, 324(5927), 646– 648.
- Holm, L., David Cassidy, J., Carroll, L., & Borg, J. (2005). Summary of the WHO collaborating centre for neurotrauma task force on mild traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 37(3), 137–141.
- Hoppenbrouwers, S. S., Nazeri, A., de Jesus, D. R., Stirpe, T., Felsky, D., Schutter, D. J.,
  ... & Voineskos, A. N. (2013). White matter deficits in psychopathic offenders and correlation with factor structure. *PLoS One*, 8(8), e72375.
- Jackson, R. L., Neumann, C. S., & Vitacco, M. J. (2007). Impulsivity, anger, and psychopathy: The moderating effect of ethnicity. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 21(3), 289–304.
- Jackson, R. L., Rogers, R., Neumann, C. S., & Lambert, P. L. (2002). Psychopathy in female offenders: An investigation of its underlying dimensions. *Criminal*

*Justice and Behavior*, *29*(6), 692–704.

- Jorge, R., & Robinson, R. G. (2003). Mood disorders following traumatic brain injury. International Review of Psychiatry, 15(4), 317–327.
- Kennedy, J. E., Cooper, D. B., Reid, M. W., Tate, D. F., & Lange, R. T. (2015). Profile analyses of the Personality Assessment Inventory following militaryrelated traumatic brain injury. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 30(3), 236– 247.
- Kiehl, K. A. (2006). A cognitive neuroscience perspective on psychopathy: Evidence for paralimbic system dysfunction. *Psychiatry Research*, 142(2–3), 107–128.
- King, N. S., Crawford, S., Wenden, F. J., Moss, N. E., & Wade, D. T. (1995). The Rivermead Post Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire: a measure of symptoms commonly experienced after head injury and its reliability. *Journal of Neurology*, 242(9), 587–592.
- Kjærvik, S. L., & Bushman, B. J. (2021). The link between narcissism and aggression: A meta- analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *147*(5), 477–503.
- Koenigs, M. R. (2012). The role of prefrontal cortex in psychopathy. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 23(3), 253–262.
- Koponen, S., Taiminen, T., Hiekkanen, H., & Tenovuo, O. (2011). Axis I and II psychiatric disorders in patients with traumatic brain injury: A 12-month followup study. *Brain Injury*, 25(11), 1029–1034.
- Koponen, S., Taiminen, T., Portin, R., Himanen, L., Isoniemi, H., Heinonen, H., ... Tenouvo, O. (2002). Axis I and II psychiatric disorders after traumatic brain injury: A 30-year follow-up study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 159, 1315–

- Marsh, H. W., Hau, K. T., & Wen, Z. (2004). In search of golden rules: Comment on hypothesis- testing approaches to setting cutoff values for fit indexes and dangers in overgeneralizing Hu and Bentler's (1999) findings. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 11(3), 320–341.
- Maurer, J.M., Paul, S., Anderson, N.E., Nyalakanti, P.K., & Kiehl, K.A. (2020). Youth with elevated psychopathic traits exhibit structural integrity deficits in the uncinate fasciculus. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 26, 102236.
- Max, J. E., Robertson, B. A. M., & Lansing, A. E. (2001). The phenomenology of personality change due to traumatic brain injury in children and adolescents. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 13(2), 161–170.
- Max, Jeffrey E., Wilde, E. A., Bigler, E. D., Hanten, G., Dennis, M., Schachar, R. J., ... Levin, H. S. (2015). Personality change due to traumatic brain injury in children and adolescents: Neurocognitive correlates. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 27(4), 272–279.
- McAllister, T. W. (2011). Neurobiological consequences of traumatic brain injury. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *13*(3), 287–300.
- McGlade, E., Rogowska, J., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. (2015). Sex differences in orbitofrontal connectivity in male and female veterans with TBI. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*, *9*, 535–549.
- McHugo, G. J., Krassenbaum, S., Donley, S., Corrigan, J. D., Bogner, J., & Drake, R. E.(2017). The prevalence of traumatic brain injury among people with cooccurring mental health and substance use disorders. *Journal of Head Trauma*

*Rehabilitation*, *32*(3), E65–E74.

- McKinlay, A., & Albicini, M. (2016). Prevalence of traumatic brain injury and mental health problems among individuals within the criminal justice system. *Concussion*, *1*(4).
- Menon, D. K., Schwab, K., Wright, D. W., & Maas, A. I. (2010). Position statement: Definition of traumatic brain injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 91, 1637–1640.
- Miller, G. F., DePadilla, L., & Xu, L. (2021). Costs of nonfatal traumatic brain injury in the United States, 2016. *Medical Care*, 59(5), 451–455.
- Moore, E., Indig, D., & Haysom, L. (2014). Traumatic brain injury, mental health, substance use, and offending among incarcerated young people. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 29(3), 239–247.
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (2010). 1998–2010 Mplus user's guide. *Muthén and Muthén*. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. 2022.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2022). Traumatic brain injury: A roadmap for accelerating progress. The National Academies Press.
- Neumann, C. S., & Hare, R. D. (2008). Psychopathic Traits in a Large Community Sample. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 76(5), 893–899.
- Neumann, C. S., Hare, R. D., & Pardini, D. A. (2015). Antisociality and the Construct of Psychopathy: Data from across the globe. *Journal of Personality*, *83*(6), 678–692.

- Neumann, C. S., Jones, D. N., & Paulhus, D. L. (2021). Examining the Short Dark Tetrad (SD4) Across Models, Correlates, and Gender. *Assessment, 29*, 651–667.
- Neumann, C. S., Schmitt, D. S., Carter, R., Embley, I., & Hare, R. D. (2012). Psychopathic Traits in Females and Males across the Globe. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 30, 557–574.
- Norup, A., & Mortensen, E. L. (2015). Prevalence and predictors of personality change after severe brain injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 96(1), 56–62.
- Olson, L., & Vaughn, M. G. (2021). Traumatic brain injury and psychopathic features among juvenile offenders: does it matter which traits?. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 0306624X211049200.
- O'Rourke, C., Templeton, M., Cohen, M. H., & Linden, M. A. (2018). Challenges of conducting research with young offenders with traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, *33*(6), 378–381.
- Olver, M. E., Neumann, C. S., Sewall, L. A., Lewis, K., Hare, R. D., & Wong, S. C. P. (2018). A comprehensive examination of the psychometric properties of the Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised in a Canadian multisite sample of indigenous and non-indigenous offenders. *Psychological Assessment*, 30(6), 779–792.
- Olver, M. E., Stockdale, K. C., Neumann, C. S., Hare, R. D., Mokros, A., Baskin-Sommers, A., ... Yoon, D. (2020). Reliability and validity of the Psychopathy Checklist-Revised in the assessment of risk for institutional violence: A cautionary note on DeMatteo et al. (2020). *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 26*(4), 490– 510.

- Orlovska, S., Pedersen, M. S., Benros, M. E., Mortensen, P. B., Agerbo, E., & Nordentoft, M. (2014). Head injury as risk factor for psychiatric disorders: A nationwide register- based follow-up study of 113,906 persons with head injury. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 171(4), 463–469.
- Perkes, I., Schofield, P. W., Butler, T., & Hollis, S. J. (2011). Traumatic brain injury rates and sequelae: a comparison of prisoners with a matched community sample in Australia. *Brain Injury*, 25(2), 131–141.
- Perry, D. C., Sturm, V. E., Peterson, M. J., Pieper, C. F., Bullock, T., Boeve, B. F. et al., (2016). Traumatic brain injury is associated with subsequent neurologic and psychiatric disease: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 124(2), 511–526.
- Plass, A. M., Van Praag, D., Covic, A., Gorbunova, A., Real, R., Von Steinbüchel, N.,
  & Dutch and Flemish CENTER TBI investigators. (2019). The psychometric validation of the Dutch version of the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire (RPQ) after traumatic brain injury (TBI). *PLoS One*, 14(10), e0210138.
- Ponsford, J., Always, Y., & Gould, K. R. (2018). Epidemiology and natural history of psychiatric disorders after TBI. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 30(4), 262–270.
- Raine, A. (2008). From genes to brain to antisocial behavior. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 17(5), 323–328.
- Rao, V., Rosenberg, P., Bertrand, M., Salehinia, S., Spiro, J., Vaishnavi, S., ...
  Miles, Q. S. (2009). Aggression After Traumatic Brain Injury: Prevalence and Correlates. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry*, 21(4), 420–429.

- Reise, S. P. (1999). Personality measurement issues viewed through the eyes of IRT, 219–241. In Embretson, S. E., & Hershberger, S. L. (Eds). *The new rules of measurement: What every psychologist and educator should know*. Psychology Press.
- Roy, D., Vaishnavi, S., Han, D., & Rao, V. (2017). Correlates and prevalence of aggression at six months and one year after first-time traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 29(4), 334–342.
- Roy, S., Vize, C., Uzieblo, K., van Dongen, J. D. M., Miller, J. D., Lynam, D. R., ...
  Neumann, C. S. (2021). The Perils of Untested Assumptions in Theory Testing: A
  Reply to Patrick et al. (2020). *Personality Disorders*, *12*(1), 24–28.
- Rutherford, A. (2001). *Introducing ANOVA and ANCOVA: a GLM approach*.
  Sage. Sariaslan, A., Sharp, D. J., D'Onofrio, B. M., Larsson, H., & Fazel,
  S. (2016). Long-Term Outcomes Associated with Traumatic Brain Injury
  in Childhood and Adolescence: A Nationwide Swedish Cohort Study of a
  Wide Range of Medical and Social Outcomes. *PLoS Medicine*, *13*(8), 15–19.
- Schneider, B., Arciniegas, D.B., Harenski, C.L., Kiehl, K.A. & Koenigs, M. (2021). The prevalence, characteristics, and psychological correlates of traumatic brain injury in male and female prisoners: An examination in two large independent samples. *Brain Injury*, 35, 1690–1701.
- Schofield, P., Butler, T., Hollis, S., & D'Este, C. (2011). Are prisoners reliable survey respondents A validation of self-reported traumatic brain injury (TBI) against hospital medical records. *Brain Injury*, 25(1), 74–82.

- Schofield, P. W., Butler, T. G., Hollis, S. J., Smith, N. E., Lee, S. J., & Kelso, W. M. (2006). Neuropsychiatric correlates of traumatic brain injury (TBI) among Australian prison entrants. *Brain Injury*, 20(13-14), 1409–1418.
- Scholten, A. C., Haagsma, J. A., Cnossen, M. C., Olff, M., Van Beeck, E. F., & Polinder, S. (2016). Prevalence of and Risk Factors for Anxiety and Depressive Disorders after Traumatic Brain Injury: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 33(22), 1969–1994.
- Scott, C., McKinlay, A., McLellan, T., Britt, E., Grace, R., & MacFarlane, M. (2015). A comparison of adult outcomes for males compared to females following pediatric traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology*, 29(4), 501.
- Shiroma, E. J., Ferguson, P. L., & Pickelsimer, E. E. (2012). Prevalence of traumatic brain injury in an offender population: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 27(3).
- Spikman, J. M., Milders, M. V., Visser-Keizer, A. C., Westerhof-Evers, H. J., Herben-Dekker, M., & van der Naalt, J. (2013). Deficits in Facial Emotion Recognition Indicate Behavioral Changes and Impaired Self-Awareness after Moderate to Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. *PLoS ONE*, 8(6).
- Strayhorn, J. M. (2002). Self-Control: Theory and Research. *Journal of the American* Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 41(1), 7–16.
- Tateno, A., Jorge, R. E., & Robinson, R. G. (2003). Clinical correlates of aggressive behavior after traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 15(2), 155–160.

Toga, A. W., Thompson, P. M., & Sowell, E. R. (2006). Mapping Brain Maturation.

*Focus*, *4*(3), 378–390.

- Tomarken, A. J., & Waller, N. G. (2005). Structural equation modeling: Strengths,
  limitations, and misconceptions. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 1, 31–65.
- Tsaousides, T., Spielman, L., Kajankova, M., Guetta, G., Gordon, W., & Dams-O'Connor, K. (2017). Improving Emotion Regulation Following Web-Based Group Intervention for Individuals with Traumatic Brain Injury. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 32(5), 354–365.
- Vaishnavi, S., Rao, V., & Fann, J. R. (2009). Neuropsychiatric problems after traumatic brain injury: Unraveling the silent epidemic. *Psychosomatics*, 50(3), 198–205.
- Valera, E. M., Joseph, A. L. C., Snedaker, K., Breiding, M. J., Robertson, C. L., Colantonio, A., ... & Bellgowan, P. S. (2021). Understanding traumatic brain injury in females: a state-of-the- art summary and future directions. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 36(1), E1.
- Vaughn, M. G., Salas-Wright, C. P., DeLisi, M., & Perron, B. (2014). Correlates of traumatic brain injury among juvenile offenders: A multi-site study. *Criminal Behavior and Mental Health*, 24(3), 188-203.
- Vermeij, A., Kempes, M. M., Cima, M. J., Mars, R. B., & Brazil, I. A. (2018). Affective traits of psychopathy are linked to white-matter abnormalities in impulsive male offenders. *Neuropsychology*, 32(6), 735.
- Vynorius, K. C., Paquin, A. M., & Seichepine, D. R. (2016). Lifetime multiple mild traumatic brain injuries are associated with cognitive and mood symptoms in young healthy college students. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 7, 5–10.

- Walsh, H. C., Roy, S., Lasslett, H. E., & Neumann, C. S. (2019). Differences and Similarities in how Psychopathic Traits Predict Attachment Insecurity in Females and Males. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 41(4), 537–548.
- Watts, A. L., Lilienfeld, S. O., Edens, J. F., Douglas, K. S., Skeem, J. L., Verschuere, B.,
  & Lopilato, A. C. (2016). Supplemental Material for Does Response Distortion
  Statistically Affect the Relations Between Self-Report Psychopathy Measures and
  External Criteria? *Psychological Assessment*, 28(3), 294–306.
- Weber, S., Amunts, K., & Schneider, F. (2008). Structural Brain Abnormalities in Psychopaths - A Review. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 26, 7–28.
- Wechsler, D. (1997). WAIS-3., WMS-3: Wechsler adult intelligence scale, Wechsler memory scale: Technical manual. Psychological Corporation.
- Wechsler, D. (2011). *WASI-II: Wechsler abbreviated scale of intelligence*. PsychCorp.
- West, S. G., Taylor, A. B., & Wu, W. (2012). Model fit and model selection in structural equation modeling. *Handbook of Structural Equation Modeling.*, 209–231.
- Williams, C., & Wood, R. L. (2010). Alexithymia and emotional empathy following traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 32(3), 259–267.
- Wolf, R. C., Pujara, M. S., Motzkin, J. C., Newman, J. P., Kiehl, K. A., Decety, J., ... & Koenigs, M. (2015). Interpersonal traits of psychopathy linked to reduced integrity of the uncinate fasciculus. *Human Brain Mapping*, *36*(10), 4202–4209.

Wood, R. L. L., & Williams, C. (2008). Inability to empathize following traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *14*(2), 289–296.

Figure 1. Multiple Group Confirmatory Factor Analysis (MG-CFA) Results for



Note. Parameters for the  $\mbox{TBI}-\mbox{group}$  are in front of the slash and for the  $\mbox{TBI}+\mbox{behind}$  the slash

## Figure 2. Structural Equation Modeling Results (TBI+): Significant parameters



Note. F1 psychopathy = interpersonal-affective traits and F2 psychopathy = behavior lifestyle and overt antisocial/developmental features. SUD = substance use disorders, Mood = mood disorders, Anxiety = anxiety disorders. For the non-significant predictors (not shown), the average SEM structural parameter was -.02, and the non-significant correlations among predictor variables were on average .03.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

# **POST-HEAD INJURY SYMPTOMS QUESTIONNAIRE\***

After a head injury or accident some people experience symptoms which can cause worry or nuisance. We would like to know if you suffered from any of the symptoms given below immediately following the head injury/injuries we have just discussed. As many of these symptoms occur normally, we would like you to compare the occurrence of these symptoms before the injury, to those occurring AFTER the injury. **Compared with before the accident(s) did you suffer from any of these symptoms immediately following the accident(s)**?

0 = Not experienced at all; 1 = No more of a problem; 2 = A mild problem; 3 = A moderate problem; 4 = A severe problem

What Happened:						
<b>Λ</b> σο·						
Loss of Consc.?	Y/N	How	lon	g ?		
Loss of Memory?	Y/N	How	lon	g be	fore	?
		How	lon	g af	ter?	
Dazed/disoriented?	Y / N	How	lon	g? _		
Using alcohol or		What	?			
other substance at		How	mu	ch?		
time of injury?	Y / N					
						Resolved
Headaches		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Feelings of Dizziness		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Nausea and/or Vomit	ing	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Noise Sensitivity,						
easily upset by loud	l noise	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Sleep Disturbance		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Fatigue, tiring more e	asily	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Being Irritable, easily	angered	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Feeling Depressed/Te	arful	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Feeling Frustrated/Im	patient	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Forgetfulness, poor n	nemory	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Poor Concentration		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Taking Longer to Thi	nk	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Blurred Vision		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Light Sensitivity						
easily upset by brig	ht light	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Double Vision		. 0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Restlessness		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
*Any other difficultie	s?	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N

<sup>\*</sup> Adapted from the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire; King, N., Crawford, S., Wenden, F., Moss, N., & Wade, D. (1995) J. Neurology 242: 587-592.

# Compared with before the accident(s) did you suffer from any of these symptoms immediately following the accident?

<b>0</b> = Not experienced at all; $1 = $ No more of a problem; $2 = $ A mild problem;
3 = A moderate problem; $4 = A$ severe problem

What Happened:						
A.g.o.						
Age.	V/N	How	lon	<u>α</u> ?		
LOSS OF CONSC.: Loss of Memory?	I/N V/N	How	lon	g: ohe	fore	2
	1 / 19	How	lon	g oc o af	ter?	•
Dazed/disoriented?	Y/N	How	lon	<u>g?</u>		
Using alcohol or		What	?	0 -		
other substance at		How	mu	ch?		
time of injury?	Y / N					
	-					Resolved
Headaches		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Feelings of Dizziness		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Nausea and/or Vomit	ing	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Noise Sensitivity,						
easily upset by loud	l noise	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Sleep Disturbance		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Fatigue, tiring more e	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N	
Being Irritable, easily	angered	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Feeling Depressed/Te	arful	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Feeling Frustrated/Im	patient	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Forgetfulness, poor n	nemory	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Poor Concentration		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Taking Longer to Thi	nk	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Blurred Vision		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Light Sensitivity						
easily upset by brig	ht light	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Double Vision		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
Restlessness		0	1	2	3	4 Y / N
*Any other difficultie	es?	0	1	2	3	4 Y / N

Total additional head injuries (additional that are not discussed on this form already)

Ages for	additional hea	ad injuries				
Any LOC	?? If so, how l	ong for each _				
Any	ongoing	symptoms	from	these	head	injuries?

URSI:		EXAMINER:	DATE:						
TBI OUESTIONNAIRE									
1.	Have you ever been knocked unconscious by a blow to the head? $Y/N$								
2.	If yes, how man	ny times? Do NOT include e	events due to drug or alcohol use.						
3.	Did any of these injuries occur during a sporting event? Y / N								
	If yes, how	v many?							
4.	Did you see a d	octor for any of these injurie	es?Y/N						
	If yes, how	v many?							
5.	Were you hosp	italized for any of these injust	ries? Y / N						
	If yes, how	v many?							
6.	For each time y questions in the A.	ou were knocked unconscio e chart below: How long were you uncon	us, please answer the following scious?						
	B.	Did you have any amnesia remembering anything that	(did you have difficulty t happened before or after the event)?						
	C.	If yes, how much time before did you experience the am	ore and after you were unconscious nesia?						
	D.	Did you have any secondar vomiting, double vision, o	y symptoms such as headache, r vertigo?						

JRSI:		EXAMINER:		DATE:
	HOW LONG?	AMNESIA PRESENT?	IF YES, TIME FRAME (BEFORE AND AFTER)?	SECONDARY SYMPTOMS? (PLEASE LIST)
1) Age:				
2) Age:				
3) Age:				
4) Age:				
5) Age:				
6) Age:				
7) Age:				
8) Age:				
9) Age:				
10) Age:				

DATABASE ENTRY:

- 4. ∑ Secondary Symptoms \_\_\_\_\_
- 1. ∑ Number of LOCs \_\_\_\_\_
   5. ∑ Injuries occurring during a sports event \_\_\_\_\_

   2. ∑ Total time unconscious \_\_\_\_\_\_
   6. ∑ Injuries doctor was seen for \_\_\_\_\_\_

   3. ∑ Total time with amnesia \_\_\_\_\_\_
   7. ∑ Injuries hospitalized for \_\_\_\_\_\_

# Mplus Output for SEM

## STANDARDIZED MODEL RESULTS

### STDYX Standardization

		Estimate	S.E.	Est./S.E.	Two-Tailed P-Value
F1	BY INT_M AFF_M	0.526 0.633	0.063 0.068	8.300 9.285	0.000 0.000
F2	BY LIF_M ANT_M	0.706 0.776	0.039 0.037	18.281 20.941	0.000 0.000
Fl	ON MOOD_DX2 ANX_DX2 SUD_DX2 TOT_NUM TBI_AGE1 AGEPCLR IQ TBI_WHO	-0.030 0.027 0.178 -0.187 -0.264 0.085 -0.116 0.290	0.081 0.081 0.079 0.105 0.114 0.082 0.078 0.108	-0.370 0.328 2.256 -1.774 -2.312 1.041 -1.479 2.676	0.711 0.743 0.024 0.076 0.021 0.298 0.139 0.007
F2	ON MOOD_DX2 ANX_DX2 SUD_DX2 TOT_NUM TBI_AGE1 AGEPCLR IQ TBI_WHO	-0.063 -0.036 0.553 0.097 0.003 -0.276 -0.073 0.013	0.059 0.059 0.049 0.078 0.085 0.055 0.055 0.055	-1.057 -0.606 11.266 1.238 0.029 -4.981 -1.316 0.162	0.290 0.544 0.000 0.216 0.977 0.000 0.188 0.871
F2	WITH F1	0.778	0.096	8.073	0.000

MOOD DX2 WITH				
ANX DX2	0.307	0.050	6.096	0.000
SUD_DX2	0.037	0.055	0.678	0.498
TOT_NUM	0.214	0.053	4.068	0.000
TBI_AGE1	0.037	0.080	0.461	0.645
AGEPCLR	0.113	0.054	2.087	0.037
IQ	0.076	0.054	1.403	0.161
TBI_WHO	0.246	0.052	4.752	0.000
ANX_DX2 WITH				
SUD_DX2	0.083	0.055	1.517	0.129
TOT_NUM	0.196	0.053	3.691	0.000
TBI_AGE1	0.054	0.077	0.706	0.480
AGEPCLR	0.104	0.054	1.906	0.057
IQ	-0.006	0.055	-0.108	0.914
'I'BI_WHO	0.210	0.053	3.930	0.000
SUD_DX2 WITH				
TOT_NUM	0.066	0.055	1.204	0.228
TBI_AGE1	-0.002	0.077	-0.031	0.976
AGEPCLR	-0.030	0.054	-0.549	0.583
IQ	-0.069	0.054	-1.274	0.203
TBI_WHO	0.049	0.055	0.903	0.367
TOT_NUM WITH				
TBI_AGE1	-0.078	0.117	-0.663	0.507
AGEPCLR	0.090	0.054	1.674	0.094
IQ	0.056	0.054	1.031	0.302
TBI_WHO	0.707	0.027	25.880	0.000
TBI_AGE1 WITH				
AGEPCLR	0.149	0.079	1.888	0.059
IQ	-0.093	0.081	-1.147	0.251
TBI_WHO	-0.010	0.136	-0.071	0.943
AGEPCLR WITH				
IQ	0.041	0.054	0.767	0.443
TBI_WHO	0.085	0.054	1.571	0.116
IQ WITH				
TBI_WHO	0.108	0.054	2.013	0.044

# CHAPTER 3

Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychopathy in Adult Incarcerated Men

## Traumatic Brain Injury and Psychopathy in Adult Incarcerated Men

Tessa Cappelle<sup>1</sup> Craig S. Neumann<sup>2</sup> Gerard J. B. Clarke<sup>3</sup> Nathaniel E. Anderson<sup>3</sup> Carla L. Harenski<sup>3</sup> David B. Arciniegas<sup>4</sup> Jean Decety<sup>5</sup> Michael R. Koenigs<sup>6</sup> Kent A. Kiehl<sup>1,3</sup>

Corresponding author address during review:

Tessa Cappelle, tessacappelle@gmail.com

Keywords: Psychopathy; TBI; PCL-R; Personality; Inmates; MG-CFA.

<sup>1</sup>University of New Mexico, Department of Psychology, Albuquerque, NM USA

<sup>2</sup>University of North Texas, Denton, TX USA

<sup>3</sup>Mind Research Network, Albuquerque, NM USA

<sup>4</sup>UNM Health Science, Department of Psychiatry, NM USA

<sup>5</sup>University of Chicago, Chicago, IL USA

<sup>6</sup>University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI USA

Declarations of interest: none.

#### Abstract

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is often associated with significant personality changes, including reduced empathy, inhibitory capacity, and increased aggression. Psychopathic personality also involves disturbances in empathy, inhibition, and aggression. Furthermore, there is a high prevalence of both psychopathic personality and TBIs in justice-involved populations. However, little research has directly examined the link between TBI and psychopathy. The current study assessed history of TBI along with psychopathic personality via the expert-rated Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R) from two diverse independent samples of justice-involved adult males (New Mexico n=520 and Wisconsin n=529). A structural equation modeling (SEM) approach was used to assess for measurement invariance of the PCL-R items among those with versus without TBI. There was evidence of strong measurement invariance for both samples and individuals with TBI had significantly higher latent psychopathic traits. For the New Mexico sample, PCL-R lifestyle and developmental/antisocial facets differed significantly between TBI groups, while for the Wisconsin sample, all four PCL-R facets differed significantly between TBI groups. The results indicate a link between history of TBI and higher PCL-R scores, and these differences are not due to differences in measurement as a function of TBI status. This study has implications for the use of the PCL-R in adult male inmate populations who suffered a TBI in the past.
# Introduction

Psychopathy is a personality disorder characterized by disturbances in interpersonal, affective, and behavioral functioning (Cleckley, 1976; Hare & Neumann, 2008), manifesting in terms of both overt (e.g., impulsive recklessness, poor behavioral controls) and covert (deceitful manipulation, callousness) dissociality (Hare & Neumann, 2010). The most widely used measure to assess psychopathy in forensic settings is the Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCLR; Hare, 1991, 2003; Olver et al., 2020). The PCL-R and its derivatives can be divided into four domains (interpersonal, affective, lifestyle, and antisocial), based on a four-factor model of psychopathy (Hare et al., 2018) that has received strong support across different item sets, assessment approaches, and sample types (Neumann et al., 2015).

Psychopathy is a dimensional construct and in the general population 1% of adults display elevated psychopathic features (Coid et al, 2009; Neumann & Hare, 2008). In male incarcerated adults 15-25% meet PCL-R criteria for psychopathy (Hare, 2003; Kiehl & Hoffmann, 2011). Psychopathy as a construct within the criminal justice system has broad implications for prison sentences, treatment options, and potential risk for recidivism (Anderson & Kiehl, 2014; Beggs & Grace, 2008; Kiehl & Hoffman, 2011; Olver et al., 2020).

Research on psychopathy has rapidly expanded over the past few decades with studies showing that the development of the disorder involves a complex interplay of neurobiological and environmental factors (Dotterer et al., 2021; Walsh & Wu, 2008; Del Giudice, 2018). While considerable research has been conducted on the neurobiology of psychopathy (Seara-Cardoso & Viding, 2015), relatively less attention has been granted

to environmental factors (Eisenbarth et al., 2018), despite the fact that environmental factors likely have reciprocal implications for disturbances in neurobiology and increased risk for expression of psychopathic personality.

One environmental factor that can significantly disrupt underlying neurobiology is traumatic brain injury (TBI) which is defined as "an acquired injury to the brain caused by an external physical force resulting in total or partial disability or impairment" (Kay et al., 1993; United States H.R. 5907). Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is viewed as "complex in texture, massive in scale, full of important research challenges, and largely as unrecognized—or as misunderstood—by the public and most clinicians" (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine [NASEM] 2022, p. xi). The nature of TBI is best understood in terms a bio-psycho-social-ecological framework (NASEM, 2022). For instance, TBI has overall healthcare costs of more than \$40 billion (USD) dollars (Miller et al., 2021) in the United States. Even 'mild' TBI poses considerable risk to the individual and the larger society in which they live (Perry et al., 2016). Also, many studies have shown that TBI increases risk for mental disorders and antisocial behavior, but it is also the case that previous mental disorders and antisociality can increase risk of TBI (Elbogen et al., 2015; Koponen et al., 2011). Thus, it is reasonable to adopt a reciprocal effects perspective when discussing the association between TBI and mental disorders.

Personality changes often result from TBI (Barrash et al., 2000; Max et al., 2001; Norup & Mortensen, 2015). A study on children and adolescents reported that 59% with a severe and 5% with a mild/moderate TBI described a change in personality (Max et al., 2001). Specific changes include increased impulsivity (Goswami et al., 2016; Mosti &

Coccaro, 2018; Kerr et al., 2014), aggression (Max et al., 2001; Greve et al., 2001; Mosti & Coccaro, 2018), disinhibition (Max et al., 2001; Osborne-Crowley & McDonald, 2018), violent crime (Fazel et al., 2011), sensation-seeking (Liebel et al., 2020; Veliz et al., 2019) and reduced empathy (Wearne et al., 2020; De Sousa et al., 2011; Wood & Williams, 2008).

The prevalence of TBI is particularly high in incarcerated individuals (Hughes et al., 2015) with rates 5-6 times higher than the prevalence found in the general population (Colantonio et al., 2014; Schneider et al., 2021; Durand et al., 2017; Silver et al., 2001). Individuals who have had a TBI during their childhood are more likely to offend compared to a control group (McKinlay et al., 2014). Furthermore, studies on incarcerated populations have found that individuals with a history of TBI exhibit more impulsive, aggressive and violent behavior as well as greater propensity for self-harm, less self-control, less affective empathy, and are more likely to recidivate sooner after release compared to individuals without a history of TBI (Ray & Richardson, 2017; Schwartz et al., 2017; Vaughn et al., 2014; Williams et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2018).

Given disturbances in empathy, behavioral regulation, and interpersonal conduct reported among persons with TBI, the potential relevance to psychopathy merits systematic study, though few such studies exist. One study reported elevated psychopathic traits among incarcerated juveniles with a TBI history, compared to those without (Vaughn et al., 2014). Yet, this study did not determine if there was evidence of measurement invariance among those with versus without TBI. A comparison of observed (manifest) variable scores can only be done with confidence when the latent

variable parameters are deemed statistically equivalent across groups (Jackson et al., 2007; Neumann et al., 2021; Olver et al., 2018).

Item-level analyses of psychological inventories are essential to understand how individuals respond to or are rated on items that are empirically tied to theoretical latent constructs (Reise, 1999). For psychopathy scales, item-level latent variable models provide quantitative information on how well items discriminate individuals with different degrees of psychopathic propensity (Hare & Neumann, 2008). In addition to determining that items discriminate equally well among groups of individuals (e.g., TBI+ vs TBI-; males versus females, etc.), it is critical to determine that a given trait score for two different groups represents that same level of the underlying latent trait (e.g., psychopathic personality). Technically, this is the case when the item thresholds (i.e., extremity parameters) are also statistically equivalent across groups. There is good evidence that the PCL-R item discrimination and threshold parameters are generally equivalent across sex (females vs. males; Bolt et al., 2004) and race/ethnicity (Jackson et al., 2007; Olver et al., 2018). However, to date, no study has examined whether and/or how TBI affects the expression and potential risk for elevated psychopathic personality features among adult inmates. To do so, it is important to determine whether the latent PCL-R item parameters differ between groups of individuals with and without a history of TBI. With evidence of parameter equivalence, we can then say that differences in PCL-R trait expression as a function of TBI status are true and meaningful.

Thus, the current study sought to bridge the gap in the literature by investigating the effect TBIs have on PCL-R trait expression in incarcerated populations. Given that TBI has been associated with changes in personality such as increased impulsivity,

aggression, disinhibition, sensation-seeking, and reduced empathy, all of which are also characteristic of psychopathy, we hypothesize that those with a history of TBI will express higher psychopathic traits than those who have never suffered a TBI.

#### Methods

# **Participants**

The two samples were recruited from correctional facilities in New Mexico and Wisconsin as part of ongoing NIH grants (R01MH070539; R01DA020870; R01DA026505; R01DA026964; R01MH090169; R01MH087525; R01MH114028; from 2007-2020). From 2007-2015 both New Mexico and Wisconsin studies excluded individuals with greater than mild TBI. In 2015, New Mexico allowed all individuals with TBI to participate. Given that inclusion criteria differed between sites in recent years, model analyses were carried out separately for each site.

Participants were compensated with an hourly rate commensurate to standard labor rates at their facilities. All individuals were adult males (age 18 and older) and provided written informed consent. Any inmate with psychosis was excluded from analyses. All procedures were approved and managed by the Ethical and Independent Review Services (E&I) and the University of Wisconsin-Madison. A total of 1049 participants (520 from New Mexico facilities and 529 from Wisconsin facilities) for whom complete data were available were included.

## Assessments

Psychopathy was assessed using the Hare Psychopathy Checklist Revised (PCL-R; Hare, 2003). This is an expert-administered rating scale consisting of a semi-structured interview and an extensive file review to provide collateral information for scoring participants on all 20 items. Each item is rated on a three-point scale: 0 = no evidence of a given trait, 1 = some evidence and 2 = pervasive evidence in many domains of an individual's life. A score of 30 or higher is the recommended cutoff for a diagnosis of psychopathy, though it is well recognized that psychopathy is a dimensional construct (Hare & Neumann, 2008). The PCL-R items can be aggregated in terms of specific trait domains: two higher-order domains (Factor 1 & 2) underpinned by four lower-order facets. Factor 1 represents interpersonal (facet 1) and affective (facet 2) traits reflecting grandiosity, manipulativeness versus callousness and lack of empathy. Factor 2 involves lifestyle (facet 3) and antisocial traits (facet 4) including impulsiveness and recklessness versus poor behavioral controls and overt antisocial behavior. All interviews were conducted by staff with extensive training and supervision.

IQ was estimated using the vocabulary and matrix reasoning sub-tests using either the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS; Wechsler, 1955), the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI-II; 2011), or the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale III (WAIS-III; Wechsler, 1997).

The TBI variables were collected by trained researchers via a modified version of the Rivermead Post Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire (King et al., 1995), given continued evidence for its validity (Plass et al., 2019). Specific items pertaining to TBI (i.e., ever had, number, severity of TBI, age(s) of TBI, loss of consciousness, and nature of post-TBI symptoms) were included so that TBI severity could be operationalized. TBI was defined as an individual reporting at least one TBI of any severity. In other words, a person had experienced a head injury and provided a positive endorsement of at least 2 (= mild problem) or higher (3 = moderate problem; 4 = severe problem). Mild TBI severity scores were coded with respect to World Health Organization (WHO) criteria for mild TBI (mTBI; Holm, et al., 2005). Specifically, "Mild TBI is an acute brain injury resulting from mechanical energy to the head from external physical forces. Operational criteria for clinical identification include: (i) 1 or more of the following: confusion or disorientation, loss of consciousness for thirty minutes or less, post-traumatic amnesia for less than 24 hours, and/or other transient neurological abnormalities such as focal signs, seizure, and intracranial lesion not requiring surgery; [...] These manifestations of mTBI must not be due to drugs, alcohol, medications, caused by other injuries or treatment for other injuries (e.g., systemic injuries, facial injuries or intubation), caused by other problems (e.g., psychological trauma, language barrier or coexisting medical conditions) or caused by penetrative cerebral injury" (Holm et al., p.140). Participants whose loss of consciousness exceeded thirty minutes or whose post-traumatic amnesia exceeded 24 hours were classified as moderate/severe TBI.

#### Statistical Analyses

A structural equation modeling approach was employed to compare PCL-R item parameters (loadings, thresholds) across those with versus without TBI, based on the four-factor PCL-R model of psychopathy (Hare & Neumann, 2008). Specifically, multiple group confirmatory factor analysis (MG-CFA) was used to examine separately

for each sample (New Mexico (NM), Wisconsin (WI)) whether those with TBI history (TBI+) versus without TBI history (TBI-) differed in terms of PCL-R parameters. In this way, we were able to examine the replicability of the four-factor model results among the TBI groups across two independent samples that presented with different racial/ethnic profiles as well as TBI profiles (see Table 1).

A strong measurement invariance approach was used for each sample, whereby MG-CFA was conducted with factor loading and threshold parameters fixed for the TBI groups (+/-). The invariance model was statistically compared to a configural model in which the same four-factor model was tested but without constraining item loadings or thresholds. With evidence of measurement invariance (equality of latent item parameters), we can ensure that comparisons of observed (manifest) variable psychopathy scores are not due to fundamental differences in measurement across the TBI +/- groups (Olver et al., 2018; Walsh et al., 2019). To compare these two models, we did not rely on the traditional chi-square difference test since large sample sizes produce significant  $x^2$  values even when the discrepancies between two models are trivial (West et al., 2012). West and colleagues suggest using guidelines laid out by Cheung and Rensvold (2002) to assess statistical differences in model fit. If the incremental change in the comparative fit index ( $\Delta$ CFI) between a one model and a (nested) more-constrained model is  $\leq .01$ , then the two models do not differ in statistical fit. Note that recent research (Roy et al., 2020) suggests that use of  $\Delta$ CFI is reasonable with ordinal data when one has good fitting models such as the four-factor PCL-R model of psychopathy (Neumann et al., 2015).

All analyses were conducted using Mplus and robust weighted least squares estimation (WLSMV) (Muthén & Muthén, 1998-2010). Traditional CFI  $\geq$  .90 and RMSEA  $\leq$  .08 fit cut-offs were used as indicative of acceptable model fit (West et al., 2012). This rationale was used given that model complexity increases the difficulty of achieving conventional levels of model fit (Marsh et al., 2004). We chose to use conventional criteria to avoid falsely rejecting a viable latent variable model.

Finally, after conducting MG-CFA for the respective samples among the TBI+ and TBI- groups, ANOVA and MANOVA analyses were computed to examine how the TBI +/- groups differed on PCL-R total and facet scores. Given that the New Mexico and Wisconsin samples contained large proportions of Latino and African American individuals, respectively, we also included race as a covariate in the analyses (i.e., non-Latino/White vs. non-White). Lastly, age and IQ were added as covariates in these 2-factor (TBI x race/ethnicity) analyses.

# Results

Demographics for the variables race and ethnicity are presented in Table 1; demographics for the variables age and IQ are presented in Table 2. Descriptive statistics of PCL-R facet and total scores for the New Mexico and the Wisconsin subsamples are presented in Table 3 and Table 4 respectively.

The MG-CFA results indicated that within each sample (NM TBI +/- and WI TBI+/-), strong measurement invariance was present, i.e., PCL-R item parameters (loadings, thresholds) were equivalent across participants with and without a history of TBI (standardized parameters for New Mexico, see Figure 1, for Wisconsin, see Figure

2). MG-CFA model fit was adequate for both samples (New Mexico: CFI = .90, RMSEA = .05; Wisconsin: CFI = .90, RMSEA = .06) and  $\Delta$ CFI = 0.0 for both samples.

A 2-way MANOVA (TBI group x race/ethnicity) with age and IQ as covariates indicated no significant interaction effects between history of TBI (+/-) and race/ethnicity, for the New Mexico (white non-Hispanic/Hispanic or non-white) or Wisconsin (white/non-white) sample for the four PCL-R facet scores (Wisconsin: *F* (4, 494) = .875, p > .05; Wilks'  $\Lambda = .993$ ,  $\eta^2 = .01$  New Mexico: *F* (4, 481) = .626, p > .05; Wilks'  $\Lambda = .995$ ,  $\eta^2 = .01$ .

Consistent with our expectation, the MANOVA results revealed a significant difference between the TBI +/- groups for both the New Mexico (F(4,481) = 3.601, p < .01; Wilks'  $\Lambda = .971, \eta^2 = .03$ ) and Wisconsin (F(4,494) = 4.235, p < .01; Wilks'  $\Lambda = .967, \eta^2 = .03$ ) samples. Having had a TBI was associated with significantly higher PCL-R facet scores. For the New Mexico sample (see Table 3), a main effect of TBI group on PCL-R scores was found for the lifestyle and developmental/antisocial facet (all p's < .01, all  $\eta^2$ 's = .02). The Wisconsin sample (see Table 4) showed main effects of TBI group on PCL-R scores on all four facets (all p's < .01 - .001, all  $\eta^2$ 's  $\leq$  .02). The same pattern of results uncovered for facet scores was also evident when PCL-R total scores were used as dependent variable (New Mexico ( $F(1,484) = 7.46, p < .01, \eta^2 = .02$ ; Wisconsin ( $F(1,497) = 14.41, p < .001, \eta^2 = .03$ ; see Tables 3 and 4 for means and SDs).

Consistent with previous research on psychopathy among diverse race/ethnic groups (Olver et al., 2018), the results indicated that non-white (or white Hispanic) individuals, compared to white individuals, tended to have higher PCL-R facet scores (see supplemental text). Finally, IQ was a significant covariate for both the New Mexico (F(8,962) = 7.826, p < .001; Wilks'  $\Lambda = .882, \eta^2 = .06)$  and Wisconsin (F(8,988) = 2.292, p < .05; Wilks'  $\Lambda = .964, \eta^2 = .02)$  samples. As found in previous research (Salekin et al., 2004; Vitacco et al., 2005), IQ was positively associated with interpersonal PCL-R facet scores (New Mexico beta = .126, p < .01; Wisconsin, beta = .103, p < .05). Only in the New Mexico sample was age inversely associated with affective (beta = -.112), lifestyle (beta = -.132), and antisocial (beta = -.251) facet scores (all p's < .05 - .001).

# Discussion

This study was designed to comprehensively examine the relationship between psychopathic traits and TBI in men incarcerated in state prisons. Critically, we found similar latent parameters for psychopathic traits across TBI groups (+ vs. -). These results highlight that PCL-R item ratings discriminate equally well among those with and those without a history of TBI and that a given PCL-R score reflects the same (latent) level of psychopathic propensity irrespective of TBI status. Therefore, investigators can be confident that psychopathic personality is assessed in an unbiased fashion across TBI groups for male adult incarcerated individuals. This work is consistent with other large sample studies that have compared the nature of PCL-R scores and their correlates across diverse samples (Olver et al., 2018).

Since PCL-R measurement invariance was established for both WI and NM samples, this indicates that the observed differences in psychopathy scores were not due to methodological measurement error (bias) across TBI groups but instead reflect differences in psychopathic trait features between groups. We found that psychopathy scores were significantly higher in adult male inmates who had experienced a TBI compared to those

who did not experience a TBI. These results held true for both NM and WI samples of offenders. These findings are congruent with a previous report (Vaughn et al., 2014) showing that incarcerated juveniles with a history of TBI scored higher on the PCL:YV compared to those who had not had a TBI.

Several reasons can be postulated as to why higher psychopathy scores were found in individuals who have suffered a TBI compared to inmates without TBI. One reason is that TBIs can affect neurocognitive functioning, personality and behavioral traits (Keenan et al., 2007; Max et al., 2015). Namely, TBI leads to higher impulsivity, less behavioral self-control, more violent behavior, and reduced empathy – all factors relevant to the construct of psychopathy (Fazel et al., 2011; Ray & Richardson, 2017; Schwartz et al., 2017; Vaughn et al., 2014; Williams et al., 2015; Wood & Williams, 2008). Another reason for the PCL-R group differences by TBI may be that individuals with high PCL-R scores are simply at greater risk of experiencing a TBI due to their high-risk temperament. It would be quite valuable to examine the developmental trajectories of at-risk youth to help disentangle these potential pathways.

One might also expect to find an effect of the specific location of past TBIs on PCL-R scores, as different regions of the brain have been linked to psychopathic traits in multiple neurobiological studies (Kiehl, 2006; Weber et al., 2008). For example, atypical anatomical integrity and functional response in the amygdala, which plays a key role in the rapid, automatic and non-conscious processing of salient stimuli, and the ventromedial prefrontal cortex, a key node of cortical and subcortical networks that subserve cognitive functions such as decision-making processes, valuation, and moral reasoning, have been implicated in psychopathic traits (Blair, 2007; Hare et al., 2009;

Koenigs, 2012; Raine, 2008; Strayhorn 2002). Damage to the prefrontal cortex has been shown to cause behavioral changes affecting people's empathy, remorselessness, and impulsivity, which may be relevant to understanding the link between history of TBI and higher psychopathy scores (Granacher & Fozdar, 2007; Koenigs, 2012). However, how specific location and severity of TBI affect the occurrence of psychopathic traits has not been studied to date. Hence, using brain imaging technology to investigate how location and severity of TBI affect individual's psychopathy scores will be helpful in understanding these conditions in more detail. Moreover, future work should consider examining age of TBI on psychopathic traits. Are there critical windows in development that moderate these traits?

For the Wisconsin sample, but not the New Mexico sample, TBI was associated with elevated Facet 1 (interpersonal) and Facet 2 (affective) traits. These differences between sites may be due to differences in sampling procedures and population differences. In both states individuals who volunteered for research, but reported severe TBI, were initially excluded from NIH studies (circa 2007-2015). In New Mexico (around 2015) individuals with all levels of TBI were allowed to participate. Thus, the New Mexico sample included moderate to severe TBI, whereas the Wisconsin site was limited to mild TBI. Further, Wisconsin showed higher average PCL-R scores (mean of 23) compared to New Mexico (mean of 20). Wisconsin also had higher Facet 1 and Facet 2 scores than New Mexico. Thus, there may be population differences between states. Future studies are needed to confirm and extend these findings.

The present study examined very large samples from two state correctional populations. However, the sample was limited in that it did not include large numbers of

participants with moderate to severe traumatic brain injury. The present sample also excluded participates who had psychotic disorders. Future studies should examine whether these results generalize to other populations.

In summary, in the two large, demographically diverse prison populations included in the present study, male inmates with TBI have elevated psychopathy scores relative to inmates without TBI. Gaining a better understanding of the relationship between psychopathy and TBI in incarcerated individuals will provide us with an ameliorated framework that can ideally be used in the criminal justice system to improve predictions of recidivism as well as treatment and rehabilitation options.

## Acknowledgments

This work was supported by NIH grants R01MH070539 (recipient: Kent A. Kiehl); R01DA020870 (recipient: Kent A. Kiehl); R01DA026505 (recipient: Kent A. Kiehl); R01DA026964 (recipient: Kent A. Kiehl); R01MH090169 (recipient: David S. Kosson, Kent A. Kiehl subcontract PI); R01MH087525 (recipient: Jean Decety); R01MH114028 (recipient: Carla L. Harenski); from 2007-2020.

# References

Anderson, N. E., & Kiehl, K. A. (2014). Psychopathy: Developmental perspectives and their implications for treatment. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 32(1), 103-117. https://doi.org/10.3233/RNN-139001

Barrash, J., Tranel, D., & Anderson, S. W. (2000). Acquired personality disturbances associated with bilateral damage to the ventromedial prefrontal region. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 18(3), 355-381.
https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532694205Barrash

- Beggs, S. M., & Grace, R. C. (2008). Psychopathy, intelligence, and recidivism in child molesters: Evidence of an interaction effect. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 35(6), 683-695. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854808314786
- Bolt, D. M., Hare, R. D., Vitale, J. E., & Newman, J. P. (2004). A multigroup item response theory analysis of the psychopathy checklist-revised. *Psychological Assessment*, 16(2), 155-168. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.16.2.155
- Carroll, L. J., Cassidy, J. D., Holm, L., Kraus, J., Coronado, V. G., & WHO
  Collaborating Centre Task Force on Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. (2004).
  Methodological issues and research recommendations for mild traumatic brain injury:
  The WHO Collaborating Centre Task Force on Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. *Journal* of *Rehabilitation Medicine*, 113-125. https://doi.org/10.1080/16501960410023877
- Cheung, G. W., & Rensvold, R. B. (2002). Evaluating goodness-of-fit indexes for testing measurement invariance. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 9(2), 233-255. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15328007SEM0902\_5

Cleckley, H. (1976). The mask of sanity. (5th ed.). Mosby.

Coid, J., Yang, M., Ullrich, S., Roberts, A., & Hare, R. D. (2009). Prevalence and correlates of psychopathic traits in the household population of Great Britain. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, *32*(2), 65-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlp.2009.01.002

Colantonio, A., Kim, H., Allen, S., Asbridge, M., Petgrave, J., & Brochu, S. (2014).
Traumatic brain injury and early life experiences among men and women in a prison population. *Journal of Correctional Health Care*, 20(4), 271-279.
https://doi.org/10.1177/1078345814541529

- De Sousa, A., McDonald, S., Rushby, J., Li, S., Dimoska, A. & James, C. (2011). Understanding the deficits in empathy after traumatic brain injury: The role of affective responsivity. *Cortex*, 47(5), 526-535. https://10.1016/j.cortex.2010.02.004.
- Del Giudice, M. (2018). Evolutionary Psychopathology: A Unified Approach. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/med-psych/9780190246846.001.0001
- Dotterer, H. L., Vazquez, A. Y., Hyde, L. W., Neumann, C. S., Santtila, P., Pezzoli, P., ...
  & Burt, S. A. (2021). Elucidating the role of negative parenting in the genetic v.
  environmental influences on adult psychopathic traits. *Psychological Medicine*, 1-11.
  https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291721002269
- Durand, E., Chevignard, M., Ruet, A., Dereix, A., Jourdan, C., & Pradat-Diehl, P. (2017).
  History of traumatic brain injury in prison populations: A systematic review. *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 60(2), 95-101.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rehab.2017.02.003

Eisenbarth, H., Krammer, S., Edwards, B. G., Kiehl, K. A., & Neumann, C. S. (2018). Structural analysis of the PCL-R and relationship to BIG FIVE personality traits and parenting characteristics in an Hispanic female offender sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 129, 59-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.03.015

Fazel, S., Lichtenstein, P., Grann, M., & Långström, N. (2011). Risk of violent crime in individuals with epilepsy and traumatic brain injury: A 35-year Swedish population study. *PLoS Medicine*, 8(12), e1001150.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001150

- First, M. B., Spitzer, R. L., Gibbon, M. L., & Williams, J. (2002). Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I Disorders, Research Version, Non-patient Edition. In (SCID-I/P).
- First, M. B., Williams, J. B. W., Karg, R. S., & Spitzer, R. L. (2015). Structured clinical interview for DSM-5 – Research version (SCID-5 for DSM-5, research version; SCID-5-RV). American Psychiatric Association, 1-94.
- Goswami, R., Dufort, P., Tartaglia, M.C., Green, R.E., Crawley, A., Tator, C.H.,
  Wennberg, R., Mikulis, D.J., Keightley, M., Davis, K.D. (2016). Frontotemporal
  correlates of impulsivity and machine learning in retired professional athletes with a
  history of multiple concussions. *Brain Structure & Function, 221*(4), 1911-1925.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-015-1012-0
- Granacher, R. P., & Fozdar, M. A. (2007). Acquired psychopathy and the assessment of traumatic brain injury. In A. R. Felthous & H. Saß (Eds.), *International Handbook of Psychopathic Disorders and the Law*, 1, 237-250. John Wiley & Sons.

- Greve, K. W., Sherwin, E., Stanford, M. S., Mathias, C., Love, J., & Ramzinski, P. (2001). Personality and neurocognitive correlates of impulsive aggression in long-term survivors of severe traumatic brain injury. *Brain Injury*, 15(3), 255–262. https://doi.org/10.1080/026990501300005695
- Hare, R. D. (1991). *Manual for the Hare Psychopathy Checklist Revised*. Multi-Health Systems.
- Hare, R. D. (2003) The Hare Psychopathy Checklist Revised. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.) Multi-Health Systems.
- Hare, R. D., & Neumann, C. S. (2008). Psychopathy as a clinical and empirical construct. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 4, 217-246.
- Hare, R. D., & Neumann, C. S. (2010). The role of antisociality in the psychopathy construct: Comment on Skeem and Cooke (2010). *Psychological Assessment*, 22(2), 446-454. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013635
- Hare, R. D., Neumann, C. S., & Mokros, A. (2018). The PCL-R assessment of psychopathy. Development, properties, debates, and new directions. In C. J. Patrick (Ed.), *Handbook of Psychopathy* (pp. 39-79). Guilford Press.
- Hughes, N., Williams, W. H., Chitsabesan, P., Walesby, R. C., Mounce, L. T. A., & Clasby, B. (2015). The prevalence of traumatic brain injury among young offenders in custody: A systematic review. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 30*(2), 94-105. https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.00000000000124
- Jackson, R. L., Neumann, C. S., & Vitacco, M. J. (2007). Impulsivity, anger, and psychopathy: The moderating effect of ethnicity. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 21(3), 289-304. https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi.2007.21.3.289

- Keenan, H. T., Hooper, S. R., Wetherington, C. E., Nocera, M., & Runyan, D. K. (2007). Neurodevelopmental consequences of early traumatic brain injury in 3-year-old children. *Pediatrics*, 119(3), e616-e623. https://doi.org/10.1542%2Fpeds.2006-2313
- Kerr, Z. Y., Evenson, K. R., Rosamond, W. D., Mihalik, J. P., Guskiewicz, K. M., & Marshall, S. W. (2014). Association between concussion and mental health in former collegiate athletes. *Injury Epidemiology*, 1(1), 28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40621-014-0028-x
- Kiehl, K. A. (2006). A cognitive neuroscience perspective on psychopathy: Evidence for paralimbic system dysfunction. *Psychiatry Research*, 142(2-3), 107-128. https://doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.psychres.2005.09.013
- Kiehl, K. A., & Hoffman, M. B. (2011). The criminal psychopath: History, neuroscience, treatment, and economics. *Jurimetrics*, 51(4), 355-397.
- King, N. S., Crawford, S., Wenden, F. J., Moss, N. E., & Wade, D. T. (1995). The Rivermead Post Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire: A measure of symptoms commonly experienced after head injury and its reliability. *Journal of Neurology*, 242(9), 587-592. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00868811
- Koenigs, M. (2012). The role of prefrontal cortex in psychopathy. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 23(3), 253-262. https://doi.org/10.1515%2Frevneuro-2012-0036
- Langlois, J. A., Rutland-Brown, W., & Wald, M. M. (2006). The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: A brief overview. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, *21*(5), 375-378.
- Liang, A. (2019). Research review on traumatic brain injury in the criminal justice system. *Plan II Honors Thesis*. http://dx.doi.org/10.26153/tsw/2584

- Liebel, S. W., Van Pelt, K. L., Garcia, G. P., Czerniak, L. L., McCrea, M. A., McAllister,
  T. W., Broglio, S. P., & CARE Consortium Investigators (2020). The Relationship
  between Sport-Related Concussion and Sensation-Seeking. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(23), 9097. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21239097
- Maas, A. I., Stocchetti, N., & Bullock, R. (2008). Moderate and severe traumatic brain injury in adults. *The Lancet Neurology*, 7(8), 728-741. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70164-9
- Marsh, H. W., Hau, K.-T., & Wen, Z. (2004). In search of golden rules: Comment on hypothesis- testing approaches to setting cutoff values for fit indexes and dangers in overgeneralizing Hu and Bentler's (1999) findings. *Structural Equation Modeling*, *11*(3), 320-341. https://doi.org/ 10.1207/s15328007sem1103\_2
- Max, J. E., Robertson, B. A. M., & Lansing, A. E. (2001). The phenomenology of personality change due to traumatic brain injury in children and adolescents. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *13*(2), 161-170. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.13.2.161
- Max, J. E., Wilde, E. A., Bigler, E. D., Hanten, G., Dennis, M., Schachar, R. J., ... & Yang, T. T. (2015). Personality change due to traumatic brain injury in children and adolescents: Neurocognitive correlates. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 27(4), 272-279. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.15030073
- McKinlay, A., Grace, R. C., McLellan, T., Roger, D., Clarbour, J., & MacFarlane, M. R. (2014). Predicting adult offending behavior for individuals who experienced a traumatic brain injury during childhood. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 29(6), 507-513. https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.0000000000000000

- Menon, D. K., Schwab, K., Wright, D. W., & Maas, A. I. (2010). Position statement:
  Definition of traumatic brain injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 91(11), 1637-1640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2010.05.017
- Mosti, C., & Coccaro, E. F. (2018). Mild traumatic brain injury and aggression, impulsivity, and history of other- and self-directed aggression. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *30*(3), 220–227. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.17070141
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (1998–2010). Mplus users guide. (6th ed.).
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2022). Traumatic brain injury: A roadmap for accelerating progress. The National Academies Press.
- Neumann, C. S., & Hare, R. D. (2008). Psychopathic traits in a large community sample: links to violence, alcohol use, and intelligence. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 76(5), 893-899. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.76.5.893
- Neumann, C. S., Hare, R. D., & Pardini, D. A. (2015). Antisociality and the construct of psychopathy: Data from across the globe. *Journal of Personality*, 83(6), 678-692. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12127
- Neumann, C. S., Jones, D. N., Paulhus, D. L. (2020). Examining the Short Dark Tetrad (SD4) Across Models, Correlates, and Gender. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*. January 2021. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191120986624
- Norup, A., & Mortensen, E. L. (2015). Prevalence and predictors of personality change after severe brain injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 96(1), 56-62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2014.08.009

- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: The Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychología*, *9*(1), 97-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4
- Olver, M. E., Neumann, C. S., Sewall, L. A., Lewis, K., Hare, R. D., & Wong, S. C. (2018). A comprehensive examination of the psychometric properties of the Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised in a Canadian multisite sample of indigenous and non-indigenous offenders. *Psychological Assessment*, 30(6), 779-792. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000533
- Olver, M. E., Stockdale, K. C., Neumann, C. S., Hare, R. D., Mokros, A., Baskin-Sommers, A., Brand, E., Folino, J., Gacono, C., Gray, N. S., Kiehl, K., Knight, R., Leon-Mayer, E., Logan, M., Meloy, J. R., Roy, S., Salekin, R. T., Snowden, R., Thomson, N., . . . Yoon, D. (2020). Reliability and validity of the Psychopathy Checklist-Revised in the assessment of risk for institutional violence: A cautionary note on DeMatteo et al. (2020). *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 26*(4), 490-510. https://doi.org/10.1037/law0000256
- Osborne-Crowley, K., & McDonald, S. (2018). A review of social disinhibition after traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, *12*(2), 176–199. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnp2113
- Plass, A. M., Van Praag, D., Covic, A., Gorbunova, A., Real, R., Von Steinbüchel, N.,
  & Dutch and Flemish CENTER TBI investigators. (2019). The psychometric validation of the Dutch version of the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire (RPQ) after traumatic brain injury (TBI). *PLoS One*, 14(10), e0210138.

- Ray, B., & Richardson, N. J. (2017). Traumatic brain injury and recidivism among returning inmates. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 44(3), 472-486. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854816686631
- Reise, S. P. (1999). Personality measurement issues viewed through the eyes of IRT. In
  S. Embretson & S. L. Hershberger (Eds.), *The New Rules of Measurement* (pp. 219-242) Erlbaum.
- Roy, S., Vize, C., Uzieblo, K., van Dongen, J. D. M., Miller, J. D., Lynam, D. R., Brazil, I., Yoon, D., Mokros, A., Gray, N. S., Snowden, R., & Neumann, C. S. (2021). The perils of untested assumptions in theory testing: A reply to Patrick et al. (2020). *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment, 12*(1), 24-28. https://doi.org/10.1037/per0000461
- Salekin, R. T., Neumann, C. S., Leistico, A. M. R., & Zalot, A. A. (2004). Psychopathy in youth and intelligence: An investigation of Checkley's hypothesis. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, *33*(4), 731-742.
  https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp3304 8
- Schneider, B. S., Arciniegas, D. B., Harenski, C., Clarke, G. J. B., Kiehl, K. A., & Koenigs, M. (2021). The prevalence, characteristics, and psychiatric correlates of traumatic brain injury in incarcerated individuals: an examination in two independent samples. *Brain injury*, 35(14), 1690-1701.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2021.2013534

Schwartz, J. A., Connolly, E. J., & Brauer, J. R. (2017). Head injuries and changes in delinquency from adolescence to emerging adulthood: The importance of self-control

as a mediating influence. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 54(6), 869-901. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022427817710287

- Seara-Cardoso, A., & Viding, E. (2015). Functional neuroscience of psychopathic personality in adults. *Journal of Personality*, 83(6), 723-737. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12113
- Silver, J. M., Kramer, R., Greenwald, S., & Weissman, M. (2001). The association between head injuries and psychiatric disorders: Findings from the New Haven NIMH Epidemiologic Catchment Area Study. *Brain Injury*, 15(11), 935-945. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050110065295
- Sloan, S., Winkler, D., & Anson, K. (2007). Long-term outcome following traumatic brain injury. *Brain Impairment*, 8(3), 251-261. https://doi.org/10.1375/brim.8.3.251
- Thurman, D. J., Alverson, C., Dunn, K. A., Guerrero, J., & Sniezek, J. E. (1999). Traumatic brain injury in the United States: A public health perspective. *The Journal* of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 14(6), 602-615. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001199-199912000-00009
- Vaughn, M. G., Salas-Wright, C. P., DeLisi, M., & Perron, B. (2014). Correlates of traumatic brain injury among juvenile offenders: A multi-site study. *Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health*, 24(3), 188-203. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbm.1900
- Veliz, P., McCabe, S. E., Eckner, J. T., & Schulenberg, J. E. (2019). Concussion, sensation-seeking and substance use among US adolescents. *Substance Abuse*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2019.1671938
- Vitacco, M. J., Neumann, C. S., & Jackson, R. L. (2005). Testing a four-factor model of psychopathy and its association with ethnicity, gender, intelligence, and violence.

*Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *73*(3), 466-476. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.3.466

- Walsh, H. C., Roy, S., Lasslett, H. E., & Neumann, C. S. (2019). Differences and similarities in how psychopathic traits predict attachment insecurity in females and males. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, *41*(4), 537-548. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-018-9704-4
- Walsh, A., & Wu, H. H. (2008). Differentiating antisocial personality disorder, psychopathy, and sociopathy: Evolutionary, genetic, neurological, and sociological considerations. *Criminal Justice Studies*, *21*(2), 135-152. https://doi.org/10.1080/14786010802159814
- Weber, S., Habel, U., Amunts, K., & Schneider, F. (2008). Structural brain abnormalities in psychopaths – A review. *Behavioral Sciences & The Law*, 26(1), 7-28. https://doi.org/10.1002/bsl.802
- Wechsler, D. (1955). *Manual for the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale*. Psychological Corporation.
- Wechsler, D. (1997). WAIS-3., WMS-3: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Wechsler Memory Scale: Technical Manual. Psychological Corporation.
- Wechsler, D. (2011). *WASI-II: Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence*. Psychological Corporation.
- Wearne, T.A., Osborne-Crowley, K., Logan, J.A., Wilson, E., Rushby, J., McDonald, S. (2020). Understanding how others feel: Evaluating the relationship between empathy and various aspects of emotion recognition following severe traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology*, 34(3), 288–297. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/neu0000609

- West, S. G., Taylor, A. B., & Wu, W. (2012). Model fit and model selection in structural equation modeling. Handbook of structural equation modeling. In R. H. Hoyle (Ed.), *Handbook of Structural Equation Modeling* (pp. 209-231). Guilford press.
- Williams, W. H., Chitsabesan, P., Fazel, S., McMillan, T., Hughes, N., Parsonage, M., & Tonks, J. (2018). Traumatic brain injury: a potential cause of violent crime?. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 5(10), 836-844. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30062-2
- Williams, W. H., McAuliffe, K. A., Cohen, M. H., Parsonage, M., & Ramsbotham, J. (2015). Traumatic brain injury and juvenile offending: Complex causal links offer multiple targets to reduce crime. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 30(2), 69-74. https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.00000000000134
- Williams, W. H., Mewse, A. J., Tonks, J., Mills, S., Burgess, C. N., & Cordan, G. (2010).
  Traumatic brain injury in a prison population: prevalence and risk for re-offending. *Brain Injury*, 24(10), 1184-1188. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2010.495697
- Wood, R. L., & Williams, C. (2008). Inability to empathize following traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 14(2), 289-296. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617708080326

**Table 1:** Descriptive statistics for demographic variables of adult incarcerated males (N = 1049)

	New Mexico ( $N = 520$ )		Wisconsin (N = 529)	
	Ν	%	N	%
Race				
White	413	79.4	290	54.8
Black or African/American	54	10.4	201	38.0
Asian	3	0.6	2	0.4
American Indian/Alaska Native	41	7.9	9	1.7
Native Hawaiian or other	0	0	3	0.6
More than one	7	1.3	3	0.6
Unknown/not reported	2	0.4	21	3.9
Ethnicity				
Hispanic or Latino	273	52.5	22	4.2
Not Hispanic or Latino	247	47.5	499	94.3
Unknown/not reported	0	0	8	1.5
TBI Severity				
No TBI	253	48.7	356	67.3
All reported TBI are mild	188	36.2	141	26.7
At least one reported TBI is	60	11.5	8	1.5
Severity could not be determined	19	3.6	24	4.5

	New Mexico						
	Min	Max	Mean	SD	95% C.I.	Median	IQR
Age	18	60	34.3	8.8	33.5-35.0	34	13
IQ	66	137	97.1	13.6	95.9-98.3	97	17
Wisconsin							
	Min	Max	Mean	SD	95% C.I.	Median	IQR
Age	18	62	32.2	7.7	31.6-32.9	31	11
IQ	71	134	97.6	13.4	96.4-98.7	97	17

**Table 2:** Descriptive statistics of continuous demographic variables age and IQ

	Interpersonal	Affective	Lifestyle	Antisocial	Total
No TBI ( <i>n</i> = 253)	.53 ± .50	.94 ± .54	$1.09 \pm .45$	1.38 ± .46	$19.96 \pm 6.74$
TBI ( <i>n</i> = 267)	.54 ± .49	.94 ± .49	1.18 ± .43*	1.50 ± .44*	21.21 ± 6.74*
Total $(n = 520)$	.54 ± .50	.94 ± .52	1.14 ± .44	1.44 ± .45	$20.60 \pm 6.76$

**Table 3:** Descriptive statistics for the New Mexico sample; PCL-R mean item facet scores and PCL-R mean total scores for no TBI (-), TBI (+), and total (M±SD).

\*TBI+ group greater than TBI- group at p < .05.

**Table 4**: Descriptive statistics for the Wisconsin sample; PCL-R facet and PCL-R total

 scores for no TBI (-), TBI (+), and total (M±SD).

	Interpersonal	Affective	Lifestyle	Antisocial	Total
No TBI ( <i>n</i> = 356)	.74 ± .50	1.44 ± .44	1.31 ± .43	1.10 ± .57	22.49 ± 7.25
TBI ( <i>n</i> = 173)	.85 ± .56*	1.54 ± .42*	1.43 ± .38*	1.22 ± .58*	24.56 ± 7.34*
Total $(n = 529)$	.78 ± .52	1.47 ± .43	1.35 ± .42	1.14 ± .57	23.16 ± 7.34

\*TBI+ group greater than TBI- group at p < .05.

Figure 1: New Mexico – Multiple group confirmatory factor analysis results;



Strong invariance: No TBI (N = 253); TBI (N = 267)

Figure 2: Wisconsin – Multiple group confirmatory factor analysis results;

Strong invariance: No TBI (N = 356); TBI (N = 173)



# CHAPTER 4

General Discussion

# **General Discussion**

The general discussion will summarize the dissertation's results by addressing similarities and differences in methodology, results, and interpretation of both studies. The impact of the findings will be laid out in the context of the individual, in terms of mental and public health, and into a unified framework within the criminal justice system. Finally, limitations and strengths of both studies will be addressed with current and continued challenges that need to be overcome and with suggestions for future research directions. Recommendations will be discussed on how to implement the findings of this dissertation into guiding current and future education, prevention and policymaking with regards to TBI and psychopathy within criminal justice-involved populations.

This research is the first to examine whether and how TBIs are related to the occurrence of psychopathy as well as testing for measurement invariance between groups of TBI+ and TBI- to assure the assessed latent construct of psychopathy is the same between the groups. Results showed evidence for strong measurement invariance in both studies for men and women, allowing to compare the groups TBI+ and TBI- without further data alignment or assessment tool change (Cieciuch et al., 2019).

In women, those with a PCL-R score above 25 (as the cutoff to determine psychopathic tendencies) were significantly more likely to have had a history of TBI compared to those below this cutoff. In accordance with previous research, depression and anxiety were significantly more likely to occur in women in the TBI+ compared to the TBI- group. However, against expectations, those with a history of TBI were less likely to have a substance use disorder compared to those without history of TBI (92% vs. 98%, p < .05). Given the large number of women with a substance use disorder in our

sample this result likely does not carry clinical significance. The MG-CFA showed acceptable model fit for the 4-factor model with the TBI+ group showing significantly higher affective traits and a trend for higher antisocial traits (p = .11) compared to the TBI- group. Structural equation modeling revealed that earlier age of TBI, severity of TBI, and substance use predicted higher Factor 1 traits and that younger current age and substance use disorder predicted higher Factor 2 traits.

In men, MANOVA results showed that the TBI+ group had significantly higher PCL-R total scores in both the WI and NM sample. For WI, all four facets showed higher PCL-R scores for the TBI+ group and for NM, the PCL-R lifestyle and developmental/antisocial facet in were significantly higher in the TBI+ group.

In summary, our studies are the first ones to show that both incarcerated adult men and women with a history of TBI show elevated PCL-R scores compared to those without a history of TBI. The only studies that have previously examined the relationship between TBI history and psychopathy were performed with juvenile populations (Olson & Vaughn, 2021; Vaughn et al., 2014). Our research is the first to look at adult individuals.

Psychopathy can develop and be diagnosed early on in an individual's life and TBI can occur at any point in life, but occurrence rates are age-dependent. In a sample of 1627 patients, Blaya and colleagues (2022) report the highest occurrence rates for males at age 21-30 (30%) and age 31-40 (24.2%). For women, the highest rates of TBI are recorded for the age cohorts 11-20 (19.8%), 1-10 (17%), and 41-50 years (17.5%). These numbers make it clear that studying adults is crucial in understanding the relationship between TBI and psychopathy.

Women's incarceration rates have steadily increased and reached an all-time high (Heimer et al., 2022). Hence, studying women in the criminal justice system has become increasingly important. However, there is still a lack of understanding regarding how psychopathy manifests in women. Here, we examined a women-only sample to determine whether TBI and psychopathy co-occur. This is the first study establishing a link between psychopathy and traumatic brain injury in adult women.

A discussion on the relationship between TBI and psychopathy would be incomplete without discussing possible treatment avenues. For the effective treatment of TBI, it is crucial to understand its sequelae. Consequences of TBI affect a wide range of the domains in an individual's life, possibly leading to neurological impairment, cognitive impairment, changes in behavior and personality, such as motor function impairment, post-traumatic epilepsy, memory impairment, language problems, impaired social skills, poor anger management, decreased disinhibition, increased impulsivity, anxiety, depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, and difficulties in maintaining interpersonal relationships (Khan et al., 2003).

In terms of TBI treatment and rehabilitation, a variety of options can be considered, including acute medical rehabilitation, community-integrated rehabilitation, and adapted lifestyle sustaining services such as acute behavior management (Chung & Khan, 2014; Galgano et al., 2017; Khan et al., 2003). Dependent on the specific type and location of brain damage, various types of psychotherapy for co-occurring psychological disorders exist such as group anger management (Walker et al., 2010) or post-traumatic stress disorder interventions (PTSD; Bryant et al., 2022) and behavioral interventions (Ylvisaker et al., 2007). Treatment for traumatic brain injuries aims to reduce or

potentially reverse some of the damage caused in the brain. Traditional approaches address immediate needs such as physical, and speech therapy. Stem cell therapy shows promising results in rodent models as well as preclinical trials with potential for future application in humans (Pischiutta et al., 2021). Different stem cell therapies have had positive neurodegenerative outcomes that result in sensorimotor and cognitive improvements, and anatomical changes (Pischiutta et al., 2021, for review see Zibara et al., 2019).

Treatment for psychopathy, on the other hand, continues to show mixed results in terms of treatment outcomes. Multiple studies have shown that psychotherapy for inmates does not result in reduced recidivism. Treatment of people high on psychopathic traits with cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) show limited success and at times even adverse effects as measured by treatment engagement, treatment completion, and recidivism rates (De Brito et al., 2021; Klein Haneveld et al., 2018; O'Brien & Daffern, 2017).

It is especially relevant to treat psychopathy and TBI together – because not only do they frequently co-occur, but there are likely bi-directional reinforcement effects of TBI on psychopathy and vice versa.

# **Strengths and Limitations**

The presented studies have a few noteworthy strengths. First, both studies include large sample sizes which allowed for more specific analyses with regards to different variables such as mental disorders and substance use.

These studies are the first to test for measurement invariance. Measurement invariance was assessed at the item level as the parameters were restricted to each item. Good model fit supports that measurement invariance in our datasets is present,
meaning that we can say with good certainty that the latent construct of psychopathy can be assessed in a similar fashion for individuals with and without history of TBI.

Results of our studies should be interpreted with caution due to some limitations that are worth mentioning. One of these pertains to the different questionnaires used to acquire history of TBI. The internal TBI questionnaire used between 2007 and 2009 and the Rivermead Questionnaire used after 2009 were different in several critical ways. The internal TBI questionnaire was not tested for reliability nor validity. One of the reasons that the internal TBI questionnaire was later replaced with the Rivermead Post Concussion Questionnaire is that the internal TBI questionnaire only recorded TBIs that resulted in loss of consciousness, whereas the Rivermead Questionnaire asks about all types of head injury, including those that did not result in loss of consciousness, does not address the entirety of TBI, which is a major constraint. However, it needs to be noted that only a small subset of participants (n=20) was administered the internal questionnaire.

Different types of bias can occur when conducting scientific research, some of which relate to challenges using self-report data. In the present studies, TBI history was recorded using solely retrospective self-report data. This can potentially pose a problem, especially when significant misrepresentation of reported data skews the results in a systematic way. It could be argued that self-report is prone to misrepresentation of the occurrence and severity of TBI. One study on incarcerated individuals showed only 70% agreement between self-reports of TBI and the individual's hospital medical records (Schofield et al., 2011). This phenomenon is open to interpretation, but compared to, for

100

instance, interrater reliability, 70% would not meet the acceptable standard of rigor in most instances. On the other hand, obtaining self-report data is still the most accessible, fast, and inexpensive method at hand. Low reliability of self-reports could be addressed by taking into account individuals' medical records.

For the women's dataset, PCL-R scores were double-rated for only 8.3% of the sample (41 out of 341). Interrater reliability as calculated through intra-class correlations (ICC) was .96 for the PCL-R total score and between .84 and .95 for the facet scores which is considered good. Different measures were taken to assure interrater reliability: through regular interrater reliability calculations (ICC), thorough initial training for PCL-R assessments, and a refresher training (a group of raters scores the same participant, and scores are later compared).

Lastly, through our studies we were not able to say what the cause and effect is in the observed relationship between psychopathy and TBI - whether TBI causes psychopathic tendencies or psychopathic tendencies result in TBIs. It seems likely to hypothesize that both might be interrelated in that having higher psychopathic tendencies would increase the likelihood of suffering a TBI and having suffered a TBI to increase the likelihood of developing psychopathic tendencies.

There is significant overlap between affected brain regions between psychopathic individuals and those with a history of TBI (Bryant et al., 2022; Weber et al., 2008). For both, structural abnormalities have been found in the prefrontal cortex, the amygdala, and the hippocampus (Anderson & Kiehl, 2014; Koenigs, 2012; McAllister, 2011). Due to the variety of brain locations that are affected when one suffers a TBI as well as the multifaceted nature of origins of psychopathic behaviors it would be premature to assume

101

that TBI will result in a higher propensity of showing symptoms of psychopathy. Expanded future research is needed to elucidate this matter further.

## **Future Research Directions**

Some of the above-mentioned challenges were overcome in that adults were used as participants in these studies – not only juveniles as in previous research. Working with a women-only sample and testing for measurement invariance to assure the same latent construct of psychopathy is measured between individuals with and without history of TBI has not been done before in relation to TBI and psychopathy. However, there are still some challenges that will be discussed here in more detail with the hope of them being considered in future research.

Despite the apparent similarities between symptoms of psychopathy and sequelae of TBI, these studies are amongst the first ones to specifically examine the relationship between TBI and psychopathy. Future research on this topic could include medical data on the history of TBI such as hospital or medical records. This would expand measure inclusiveness for severe TBI where treatment is sought, but still cannot address the difficulty in measuring TBI that are not medically treated. One way to circumvent this would be to conduct a longitudinal study that allows for recollection of events over the course of a longer period of time. However, this method has its own pitfalls, with missing data points and patients potentially dropping out over the course of the study.

It has been established that psychopathy differs cross-culturally (Cooke, 1998) meaning that despite the relatively mixed racial and ethnic backgrounds in our sample it would be beneficial to conduct research that goes beyond samples from correctional facilities in the United States to be able to generalize the findings to a broader spectrum of people.

Participants in this study were all 18 years and older. As previously mentioned, it is crucial to study adults when aiming to understand the relationship between psychopathy and TBI. Having said that, most physiological and developmental processes occur during teenage years. TBI during these critical times of development might have an especially relevant effect on the developing brain and potentially the likelihood of developing psychopathy (Del Giudice et al., 2011). Hence, it is beneficial to continue to study juveniles, and particularly through longitudinal studies, to identify the direction of cause and effect between psychopathy and TBI.

Further, both of our studies used incarcerated individuals. Despite the increased prevalence of psychopathy as well as TBI occurrence of individuals in correctional facilities there is also a non-negligible amount of psychopathic individuals that are not incarcerated who would be of interest to study. This also would allow for a more general picture of how TBIs affect psychopathy and vice versa.

**Implications and Recommendations for Prevention, Education, and Policymaking** The Center for Disease Control and Prevention has invested in programs to reduce the occurrence of diseases and disorders such as obesity, diabetes, tobacco use, and cancer (Bunnell et al., 2012; Reidy et al., 2015). Similarly, acting on the biological and environmental levels during the critical developmental periods of an individual's lifetime during which psychopathic traits first to emerge (Del Giudice et al., 2011) could result in more targeted and individualized prevention and treatment plans.

A better understanding of the specific developmental stages during which traits of

psychopathy first occur will help to identify individuals at risk of developing psychopathy earlier and therefore aid in developing specific intervention plans.

Likewise, knowledge about how the neural damage resulting from TBI affects the different factors and facets of psychopathy, we would potentially be able to create individualized prevention, intervention, and treatment plans. Allocating more resources towards education and prevention of TBI (e.g., wearing helmets on motorcycles, reducing driving while intoxicated, prevention of violence) will continue to have a positive impact on the reduction of TBI occurrence.

As previously discussed, a strong link exists between psychopathy and violence, aggression, and recidivism and it should therefore be made a priority to continue research to determine what treatment options are best suited to reduce the symptoms of psychopathy, especially in incarcerated populations.

Hopefully, the results of this dissertation show the need to further study psychopathy in relation to TBI and to continue to conduct research on different prevention and treatment options to decrease the negative outcomes that are associated with TBI, psychopathy, and the combination of both. Ultimately, those in charge of policy-making as well as clinical and criminal-justice involved personnel are the ones who will need to adjust and improve diagnoses, interventions, and treatment plans for individuals at risk for psychopathy. Not only the individual will benefit from these discussed changes but society as a whole.

104

## Conclusion

The presented research sheds light on the relationship between history of TBI and psychopathic tendencies in adult incarcerated men and women. Understanding these complex phenomena and how they interact with one another can help guide decisionmaking processes on prevention, rehabilitation, and treatment options.

Future research will benefit from applying an intersectional approach to gain insight into the details of how TBI and psychopathy interact with one another, and longitudinal studies will potentially help to identify the causal link between TBI history and psychopathy.

Finally, gaining a better understanding of psychopathy and TBI history in incarcerated individuals will provide us with an ameliorated framework for use in the criminal justice system to improve predictions of recidivism as well as treatment and rehabilitation options for individuals with history of TBI that are at elevated risk of showing psychopathic tendencies.

## **References General Introduction and General Discussion**

- Anderson, N. E., & Kiehl, K. A. (2014). Psychopathy: Developmental perspectives and their implications for treatment. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 32(1), 103-117.
- Anderson, N. E., Widdows, M., Maurer, J. M., & Kiehl, K. A. (2021). Clarifying fearlessness in psychopathy: An examination of thrill-seeking and physical risktaking. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 43(1), 21-32.
- Barrash, J., Tranel, D., & Anderson, S. W. (2000). Acquired personality disturbances associated with bilateral damage to the ventromedial prefrontal region. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 18(3), 355-381.
- Beauchamp, M. H., Ditchfield, M., Maller, J. J., Catroppa, C., Godfrey, C., Rosenfeld, J.
  V., ... & Anderson, V. A. (2011). Hippocampus, amygdala and global brain
  changes 10 years after childhood traumatic brain injury. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 29(2), 137-143.
- Beggs, S. M., & Grace, R. C. (2008). Psychopathy, intelligence, and recidivism in child molesters: Evidence of an interaction effect. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 35(6), 683-695.
- Blaya, M. O., Raval, A. P., & Bramlett, H. M. (2022). Traumatic brain injury in women across lifespan. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 105613.
- Bryant, B. R., Richey, L. N., Jahed, S., Heinzerling, A., Stevens, D. A., Pace, B. D., ... & Trapp, N. T. (2022). Behavioral and emotional dyscontrol following traumatic brain injury: A systematic review of neuroimaging and electrophysiological correlates. *Journal of the Academy of Consultation-Liaison Psychiatry*.

- Bunnell, R., O'Neil, D., Soler, R., Payne, R., Giles, W. H., Collins, J., & Bauer, U.
  (2012). Fifty communities putting prevention to work: accelerating chronic disease prevention through policy, systems and environmental change. *Journal of Community Health*, 37(5), 1081-1090.
- Bureau of Prisons Statistics: Inmate Gender. 2022, October 8<sup>th</sup>. BOP Statistics, Inmate Gender. Federal Bureau of Prisons. Retrieved October 12, 2022, from https://www.bop.gov/about/statistics/statistics\_inmate\_gender.jsp
- Cappa, K. A., Conger, J. C., Conger, A. J. (2011). Injury severity and outcome: A metaanalysis of prospective studies on TBI outcome. *Health Psychology*, 30(5), 542-560.
- Carson, E. A., & Golinelli, D. (2013). Prisoners in 2012: Trends in admissions and releases, 1991–2012. *Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics*.
- Chung, P., & Khan, F. (2014). Traumatic brain injury (TBI): Overview of diagnosis and treatment. *Journal of Neurology & Neurophysiology*, 5(1), 1-11.
- Cima, M., & Raine, A. (2009). Distinct characteristics of psychopathy relate to different subtypes of aggression. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 47(8), 835-840.
- Cieciuch, J., Davidov, E., Schmidt, P., & Algesheimer, R. (2019). How to obtain comparable measures for cross-national comparisons. *KZfSS Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 71*(1), 157-186.
- Cleckley, H. (1941). The mask of sanity: An attempt to reinterpret the so-called psychopathic personality. Mosby.
- Coburn, K. (1992). Traumatic brain injury: the silent epidemic. *AACN Advanced Critical Care*, *3*(1), 9-18.

- Coid, J., Yang, M., Ullrich, S., Roberts, A., & Hare, R. D. (2009). Prevalence and correlates of psychopathic traits in the household population of Great Britain. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 32(2), 65-73.
- Colantonio, A., Kim, H., Allen, S., Asbridge, M., Petgrave, J., & Brochu, S. (2014). Traumatic brain injury and early life experiences among men and women in a prison population. *Journal of Correctional Health Care*, *20*(4), 271-279.
- Cooke, D. J. (1998). Psychopathy across cultures. In D. J. Cooke, A. E. Forth, & R. D.Hare. *Psychopathy: Theory, research and implications for society (*pp. 13-45).Springer.
- Coronado, V. G., McGuire, L. C., Sarmiento, K., Bell, J., Lionbarger, M. R., Jones, C.
  D., ... & Xu, L. (2012). Trends in traumatic brain injury in the US and the public health response: 1995–2009. *Journal of Safety Research*, 43(4), 299-307.
- Corrigan, J. D., Selassie, A. W., & Orman, J. A. L. (2010). The epidemiology of traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, *25*(2), 72-80.
- Dawel, A., O'Kearney, R., McKone, E., & Palermo, R. (2012). Not just fear and sadness:
  Meta-analytic evidence of pervasive emotion recognition deficits for facial and vocal expressions in psychopathy. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews,* 36(10), 2288-2304.
- De Brito, S. A., Forth, A. E., Baskin-Sommers, A. R., Brazil, I. A., Kimonis, E. R., Pardini, D., ... & Viding, E. (2021). Psychopathy. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 7(1), 1–21.

- De Sousa, A., McDonald, S., & Rushby, J. (2012). Changes in emotional empathy, affective responsivity, and behavior following severe traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, *34*(6), 606-623.
- Del Giudice, M. (2018). *Evolutionary Psychopathology: A Unified Approach*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Del Giudice, M., Ellis, B. J., & Shirtcliff, E. A. (2011). The adaptive calibration model of stress responsivity. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *35*(7), 1562-1592.
- Domes, G., Hollerbach, P., Vohs, K., Mokros, A., & Habermeyer, E. (2013). Emotional empathy and psychopathy in offenders. An experimental study. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 27(1), 67-84.
- Durand, E., Chevignard, M., Ruet, A., Dereix, A., Jourdan, C., & Pradat-Diehl, P. (2017).
  History of traumatic brain injury in prison populations: A systematic review.
  Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, 60(2), 95-101.
- Faul, M., Wald, M. M., Xu, L., & Coronado, V. G. (2010). Traumatic brain injury in the United States: Emergency department visits, hospitalizations, and deaths, 2002-2006.
- Fazel, S., Lichtenstein, P., Grann, M., & Långström, N. (2011). Risk of violent crime in individuals with epilepsy and traumatic brain injury: A 35-year Swedish population study. *PLoS Medicine*, 8(12), e1001150.
- Finkelstein, E., Corso, P. S., & Miller, T. R. (2006). *The incidence and economic burden of injuries in the United States*. Oxford University Press, USA.

- Forth, A. E., Brown, S. L., Hart, S. D., & Hare, R. D. (1996). The assessment of psychopathy in male and female noncriminals: Reliability and validity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 20(5), 531–543.
- Fournier, L. F., & Verona, E. (2022). Psychopathy, Trauma, and PTSD Symptoms: Theory and Evidence. *The Complexity of Psychopathy*, 201-234.
- Frost, R. B., Farrer, T. J., Primosch, M., & Hedges, D. W. (2013). Prevalence of traumatic brain injury in the general adult population: A meta-analysis. *Neuroepidemiology*, 40(3), 154-159.
- Galgano, M., Toshkezi, G., Qiu, X., Russell, T., Chin, L., & Zhao, L. R. (2017).
   Traumatic brain injury: Current treatment strategies and future endeavors. *Cell Transplantation*, 26(7), 1118-1130.
- Hare, R. D. (1991). Manual for the Revised Psychopathy Checklist. Toronto, Ontario, Canada: Multi-Health Systems.
- Hare, R. D. (1999). Psychopathy as a risk factor for violence. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 70(3), 181-197.
- Hare, R. D. (2003). The Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised: (PCL-R). Second Edition. Toronto, Ontario, Canada: Multi-Health Systems.
- Hare, T. A., Camerer, C. F., & Rangel, A. (2009). Self-control in decision-making involves modulation of the vmPFC valuation system. *Science*, *324*(5927), 646-648.

- Hare, R. D., Harpur, T. J., Hakstian, A. R., Forth, A. E., Hart, S. D., & Newman, J. P. (1990). The revised psychopathy checklist: Reliability and factor structure. *Psychological Assessment: A Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 2(3), 338-341.
- Hare, R. D., Hart, S. D., & Harpur, T. J. (1991). Psychopathy and the DSM-IV criteria for antisocial personality disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 100(3), 391-398.
- Hare, R. D., & Neumann, C. S. (2005). Structural models of psychopathy. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 7(1), 57-64.
- Hare, R. D., & Neumann, C. S. (2006). The PCL-R assessment of psychopathy.
  Development, structural properties, and new directions. In C. J. Patrick (Ed.), *Handbook of Psychopathy* (pp. 55-88). Guilford Press.
- Harpur, T. J., Hare, R. D., & Hakstian, A. R. (1989). Two-factor conceptualization of psychopathy: Construct validity and assessment implications. *Psychological Assessment: A Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 1(1), 6-17.
- Heimer, K., Malone, S. E., & De Coster, S. (2022). Trends in women's incarceration rates in US prisons and jails: A tale of inequalities. *Annual Review of Criminology*, 6.
- Hughes, N., Williams, W. H., Chitsabesan, P., Walesby, R. C., Mounce, L. T. A., & Clasby, B. (2015). The prevalence of traumatic brain injury among young offenders in custody: A systematic review. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 30(2), 94-105.

- Ietswaart, M., Milders, M., Crawford, J. R., Currie, D., & Scott, C. L. (2008). Longitudinal aspects of emotion recognition in patients with traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(1), 148-159.
- Jackson, R. L., Rogers, R., Neumann, C. S., & Lambert, P. L. (2002). Psychopathy in female offenders: An investigation of its underlying dimensions. *Criminal Justice* and Behavior, 29(6), 692-704.
- Jolly, A. E., Scott, G. T., Sharp, D. J., & Hampshire, A. H. (2020). Distinct patterns of structural damage underlie working memory and reasoning deficits after traumatic brain injury. *Brain*, 143(4), 1158-1176.
- Keil, K., & Kaszniak, A. W. (2002). Examining executive function in individuals with brain injury: A review. *Aphasiology*, 16(3), 305-335.
- Khan, F., Baguley, I. J., & Cameron, I. D. (2003). 4: Rehabilitation after traumatic brain injury. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 178(6), 290-295.
- Kiehl, K. A., & Hoffman, M. B. (2011). The criminal psychopath: History, neuroscience, treatment, and economics. *Jurimetrics*, 51, 355-397.
- Klein Haneveld, E., Neumann, C. S., Smid, W., Wever, E., & Kamphuis, J. H. (2018). Treatment responsiveness of replicated psychopathy profiles. *Law and Human Behavior*, 42(5), 484-495.
- Koenigs, M. (2012). The role of prefrontal cortex in psychopathy. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 23(3), 253-262.
- Langlois, J. A., Rutland-Brown, W., & Wald, M. M. (2006). The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: A brief overview. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 21(5), 375-378.

- Maas, A. I., Menon, D. K., Adelson, P. D., Andelic, N., Bell, M. J., Belli, A., ... & Francony, G. (2017). Traumatic brain injury: Integrated approaches to improve prevention, clinical care, and research. *The Lancet Neurology*, *16*(2), 987-1048.
- Maas, A. I., Stocchetti, N., & Bullock, R. (2008). Moderate and severe traumatic brain injury in adults. *The Lancet Neurology*, 7(8), 728-741.
- Max, J. E., Robertson, B. A. M., & Lansing, A. E. (2001). The phenomenology of personality change due to traumatic brain injury in children and adolescents. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 13(2), 161-170.
- Max, J. E., Wilde, E. A., Bigler, E. D., Hanten, G., Dennis, M., Schachar, R. J., ... & Yang, T. T. (2015). Personality change due to traumatic brain injury in children and adolescents: Neurocognitive correlates. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry* and Clinical Neurosciences, 27(4), 272-279.
- McAllister, T. W. (2011). Neurobiological consequences of traumatic brain injury. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *13*(3), 287-300.
- Menon, D. K., Schwab, K., Wright, D. W., & Maas, A. I. (2010). Position statement: Definition of traumatic brain injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 91(11), 1637-1640.
- Norup, A., & Mortensen, E. L. (2015). Prevalence and predictors of personality change after severe brain injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 96(1), 56-62.
- O'Brien, K., & Daffern, M. (2017). An exploration of responsivity among violent offenders: Predicting access to treatment, treatment engagement and programme completion. Psychiatry, Psychology and Law, 24(2), 259-277.

- Olson, L., & Vaughn, M. G. (2021). Traumatic brain injury and psychopathic features among juvenile offenders: does it matter which traits?. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 0306624X211049200.
- Pischiutta, F., Caruso, E., Lugo, A., Cavaleiro, H., Stocchetti, N., Citerio, G., ... & Zanier,
  E. R. (2021). Systematic review and meta-analysis of preclinical studies testing
  mesenchymal stromal cells for traumatic brain injury. *Regenerative Medicine*, 6(1),
  1-13.
- Ray, B., & Richardson, N. J. (2017). Traumatic brain injury and recidivism among returning inmates. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 44(3), 472-486.
- Reidy, D. E., Kearns, M. C., DeGue, S., Lilienfeld, S. O., Massetti, G., & Kiehl, K. A. (2015). Why psychopathy matters: Implications for public health and violence prevention. *Aggression and Violent behavior*, 24, 214-225.
- Rosenberg, H., McDonald, S., Dethier, M., Kessels, R. P., & Westbrook, R. F. (2014).
  Facial emotion recognition deficits following moderate-severe traumatic brain injury (TBI): Re-examining the valence effect and the role of emotion intensity. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 20(10), 994-1003.
- Schneider, B. S., Arciniegas, D. B., Harenski, C., Clarke, G. J. B., Kiehl, K. A., & Koenigs, M. (2021). The prevalence, characteristics, and psychiatric correlates of traumatic brain injury in incarcerated individuals: An examination in two independent samples. *Brain Injury*, 35(14), 1690-1701.
- Schofield, P., Butler, T., Hollis, S., & D'Este, C. (2011). Are prisoners reliable survey respondents A validation of self-reported traumatic brain injury (TBI) against hospital medical records. *Brain Injury*, 25(1), 74–82.

- Schwartz, J. A., Connolly, E. J., & Brauer, J. R. (2017). Head injuries and changes in delinquency from adolescence to emerging adulthood: The importance of selfcontrol as a mediating influence. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 54(6), 869-901.
- Serin, R. C. (1991). Psychopathy and violence in criminals. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 6(4), 423-431.
- Silver, J. M., Kramer, R., Greenwald, S., & Weissman, M. (2001). The association between head injuries and psychiatric disorders: Findings from the New Haven NIMH Epidemiologic Catchment Area Study. *Brain Injury*, 15(11), 935-945.
- Sloan, S., Winkler, D., & Anson, K. (2007). Long-term outcome following traumatic brain injury. *Brain Impairment*, 8(3), 251-261.
- Steele, V. R., Rao, V., Calhoun, V. D., & Kiehl, K. A. (2017). Machine learning of structural magnetic resonance imaging predicts psychopathic traits in adolescent offenders. *Neuroimage*, 145, 265-273.
- Sussman, E. S., Pendharkar, A. V., Ho, A. L., & Ghajar, J. (2018). Mild traumatic brain injury and concussion: Terminology and classification. In B. Hainline & R. A. Stern Handbook of Clinical Neurology, 158, pp. 21-24.
- Taylor, C. A., Bell, J. M., Breiding, M. J., & Xu., L. (2017). Traumatic brain injury-related emergency department visits, hospitalizations, and deaths United States, 2007 and 2013. MMWR Surveillance Summary 2017, 66 (No. SS-9), 1-15. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6609a1

- Thurman, D. J., Alverson, C., Dunn, K. A., Guerrero, J., & Sniezek, J. E. (1999).
  Traumatic brain injury in the United States: A public health perspective. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, *14*(6), 602-615.
- Toupin, J., Mercier, H., Déry, M., Côté, G., & Hodgins, S. (1995). Validity of the PCL-R for adolescents. *Issues in Criminological & Legal Psychology*, 24, 143–145.
- Vaughn, M. G., Salas-Wright, C. P., DeLisi, M., & Perron, B. (2014). Correlates of traumatic brain injury among juvenile offenders: A multi-site study. *Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health*, 24(3), 188-203.
- Vaughn, M. G., Salas-Wright, C. P., John, R., Holzer, K. J., Qian, Z., & Veeh, C. (2019). Traumatic brain injury and psychiatric co-morbidity in the United States. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 90(1), 151-158.
- Verona, E., & Vitale, J. (2006). Psychopathy in Women: Assessment, Manifestations, and Etiology. In C. J. Patrick (Ed.), *Handbook of Psychopathy* (pp. 415–436). Guilford Press.
- Vitale, J. E., & Newman, J. P. (2001). Using the Psychopathy Checklist—Revised with female samples: Reliability, validity, and implications for clinical utility. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 8(1), 117.
- Vitacco, M. J., Rogers, R., Neumann, C. S., Harrison, K. S., & Vincent, G. (2005). A comparison of factor models on the PCL-R with mentally disordered offenders: The development of a four-factor model. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *32*(5), 526-545.

- Wahlund, K., & Kristiansson, M. (2009). Aggression, psychopathy and brain imaging –
   Review and future recommendations. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 32(4), 266-271.
- Walker, A. J., Nott, M. T., Doyle, M., Onus, M., McCarthy, K., & Baguley, I. J. (2010). Effectiveness of a group anger management programme after severe traumatic brain injury. *Brain Injury*, 24(3), 517-524.
- Walsh, A., & Wu, H. H. (2008). Differentiating antisocial personality disorder, psychopathy, and sociopathy: Evolutionary, genetic, neurological, and sociological considerations. *Criminal Justice Studies*, 21(2), 135-152.
- Weber, S., Habel, U., Amunts, K., & Schneider, F. (2008). Structural brain abnormalities in psychopaths – A review. *Behavioral Sciences & The Law*, 26(1), 7-28.
- Williams, W. H., McAuliffe, K. A., Cohen, M. H., Parsonage, M., & Ramsbotham, J. (2015). Traumatic brain injury and juvenile offending: Complex causal links offer multiple targets to reduce crime. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 30(2), 69-74.
- Windle, M., & Dumenci, L. (1999). The factorial structure and construct validity of the Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R) among alcoholic inpatients. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6(4), 372–393.
- Wood, R. L., & Williams, C. (2008). Inability to empathize following traumatic brain injury. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 14(2), 289-296.
- Wynn, R., Høiseth, M. H., & Pettersen, G. (2012). Psychopathy in women: Theoretical and clinical perspectives. *International Journal of Women's Health*, 4, 257-263.

- Ylvisaker, M., Turkstra, L., Coehlo, C., Yorkston, K., Kennedy, M., Sohlberg, M. M., & Avery, J. (2007). Behavioural interventions for children and adults with behaviour disorders after TBI: A systematic review of the evidence. *Brain Injury*, 21(8), 769-805.
- Zibara, K., Ballout, N., Mondello, S., Karnib, N., Ramadan, N., Omais, S., ... & Kobeissy, F. (2019). Combination of drug and stem cells neurotherapy: potential interventions in neurotrauma and traumatic brain injury. *Neuropharmacology*, 145, 177-198.